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Vingroup Joint Stock Company

GENERAL INFORMATION

THE COMPANY

Vingroup Joint Stock Company (“the Company”) is a joint stock company established under the Law
on Enterprise of Vietnam pursuant to the Business Registration Certificate No. 0103001016 issued by
the Hanoi Department of Planning and Investment on 3 May 2002 and the Business Registration
Certificate No. 0101245486 re-issued on 12 May 2010. The Company subsequently received
amended Enterprise Registration Certificates, with the 739 amendment dated 9 January 2024 as the
fatest.

The Company's shares were officially listed on the Ho Chi Minh City Stock Exchange (‘HOSE") from
19 September 2007 pursuant to Decision No.106/QD-TTGDHCM issued by the Director of HOSE on
7 September 2007.

The current principal activities of the Company are to invest in, construct and trade real estate
properties; to carry out capital mobilisation and investment activities; and to provide general
administrative services. The current principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are presented
in Appendix 1.

The Company’s head office is registered at No. 7, Bang Lang 1 Street, Vinhomes Riverside Urban

Area, Viet Hung Ward, Long Bien District, Hanoi, Vietnam. Its branch is located at No. 72, Le Thanh
Ton Street and No. 45A, Ly Tu Trong Street, Ben Nghe Ward, District 1, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Members of the Board of Directors during the year and at the date of this report are:

Mr. Pham Nhat Vuong Chairman

Ms. Pham Thuy Hang Vice Chairwoman

Ms. Pham Thu Huong Vice Chairwoman

Ms. Nguyen Dieu Linh Vice Chairwoman

Mr. Nguyen Viet Quang Vice Chairman

Mr. Adil Ahmad independent Board member

Mr. Chin Michael Jaewuk Independent Board member

Mr. Ronaldo Dy-Liacco tbasco  Independent Board member

Ms. Chun Chae Rhan Board member Resigned on 25 February 2025
BOARD OF SUPERVISION

Members of the Board of Supervision during the year and at the date of this report are:

Mr. Nguyen The Anh Head of Board of Supervision
Ms. Do Thi Hong Van Member of Board of Supervision
Ms. Nguyen Hong Mai Member of Board of Supervision
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company

GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

MANAGEMENT

Members of the management during the year and at the date of this report are:

Mr. Nguyen Viet Quang Chief Executive Officer

Ms. Mai Huong Noi Deputy Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Pham Van Khuong Deputy Chief Executive Officer
Ms. Duong Thi Hoan Deputy Chief Executive Officer
LEGAL REPRESENTATIVE

The legal representative of the Company during the year and at the date of this report is Mr. Nguyen
Viet Quang.

AUDITORS

The auditor of the Company is Ernst & Young Vietnam Limited.



Vingroup Joint Stock Company

REPORT OF MANAGEMENT

Management of Vingroup Joint Stock Company (“the Company”) is pleased to present this report and
the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
“the Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024.

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the consolidated financial statements of each financial year which give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group, and of the consolidated results
of its operations and its consolidated cash flows for the year. In preparing those consolidated financial
statements, management is required to:

» select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
» make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

> state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the consolidated financial statements; and

> prepare the consolidated financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate
to presume that the Group will continue its business.

Management is responsible for ensuring that proper accounting records are kept which disclose, with
reasonable accuracy at any time, the consolidated financial position of the Group and for ensuring
that the accounting records comply with the applied accounting system. It is also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Management confirmed that it has complied with the above requirements in preparing the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

STATEMENT BY MANAGEMENT

Management does hereby state that, in its opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial
statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of the consolidated results of its operations and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting Standards, Viethamese Enterprise
Accounting System and the statutory requirements relevant to the preparation and presentation of the
consglidated financial statements.

5 d
----------

Chief Executive Officer§9/ )
Nguyen Viet Quang 2

Hanoi, Vietnam

29 March 2025
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Ernst & Young Vietnam Limited Tel: +84 28 3824 5252

20th Floor, Bitexco Financial Tower Email: eyhcmc@vn.ey.com
2 Hai Trieu Street, District 1 Website (EN); ey.com/en_vn
Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam Website (VN): ey.com/vi_vn

Shape the future
with confidence

Reference: 11537055/68390295-HN

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To: The Shareholders of Vingroup Joint Stock Company

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Vingroup Joint Stock Company
(“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) as prepared on 29 March
2025 and set out on pages 6 to 121, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December
2024, the consolidated income statement and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then
ended and the notes thereto.

Management’s responsibility

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Viethnamese Accounting Standards, Vietnamese Enterprise Accounting
System and the statutory requirements relevant to the preparation and presentation of the consolidated
financial statements, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Vietnamese Standards on Auditing. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control
relevant to the Group's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Amember firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view, in all material respects, of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of the consolidated results
of its operations and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Vietnamese
Accounting Standards, Vietnamese Enterprise Accounting System and the statutory requirements
relevant to the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

Bui Anh Tuan Nguyen Hoang Long

Deputy General Director Auditor

Audit Practising Registration Audit Practising Registration
Certificate No. 1067-2023-004-1 Certificate No. 5078-2024-004-1

Hanoi, Vietnam

29 March 2025

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited



Vingroup Joint Stock Company

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
as at 31 December 2024

BO1-DN/HN

Currency: VND million

Code | ASSETS Notes Ending balance | Beginning balance
100 | A. CURRENT ASSETS 396,479,911 343,536,472
110 (1. Cash and cash equivalents 5 42,582,366 27,982,623
111 1. Cash 32,332,352 26,529,351
112 2. Cash equivalents 10,250,014 1,453,272
120 | ll. Short-term investments 8,718,884 6,998,671
121 1. Held-for-trading securities 6.1 3,628,250 -
123 2. Held-to-maturity investments 6.2 5,090,634 6,998,671
130 | lll. Current accounts receivable 190,046,565 168,114,731
131 1. Short-term trade receivables 7.1 29,080,916 27,473,498
132 2. Short-term advances to

suppliers 7.2 40,937,213 37,390,279
135 3. Short-term loan receivables 8.1 1,478,525 7,637,650
136 4. Other short-term receivables 9 119,255,260 96,748,810
137 5. Provision for doubtful

short-term receivables 10 (705,349) (1,135,506)
140 | IV. Inventories 11 114,090,183 92,623,746
141 1. Inventories 127,068,459 102,040,889
149 2. Provision for obsolete

inventories (12,978,276) (9,417,143)
150 | V. Other current assets 41,041,913 47,816,701
151 1. Short-term prepaid expenses 12 4,592,399 2,319,300
152 2. Value-added tax deductible 10,199,557 9,110,792
153 3. Tax and other receivables

from the State 22 312,596 292,336
155 4, Other current assets 13 25,937,361 36,094,273




Vingroup Joint Stock Company BO1-DN/HN

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (continued)
as at 31 December 2024

Currency: VND million

Code | ASSETS Notes Ending balance | Beginning balance
200 | B. NON-CURRENT ASSETS 440,123,992 324,119,295
210 |l Long-term receivables 82,564,248 8,237,482
211 1. Long-term trade receivables 7.1 1,631,637 981,892
215 2. Long-term loan receivables 8.2 23,359,127 1,147,876
216 3. Other long-term receivables 9 57,573,484 6,107,714
220 | ll. Fixed assets 182,943,333 160,409,312
221 1. Tangible fixed assets 14 145,305,970 128,273,500
222 Cost 196,866,872 167,373,689
223 Accumulated depreciation (51,560,902) (39,100,189)
224 2. Finance leases 226,253 205,113
225 Cost 386,311 219,356
226 Accumulated depreciation (160,058) (14,243)
227 3. Intangible fixed assets 15 37,411,110 31,930,699
228 Cost 61,376,309 49,248,279
229 Accumulated amortisation (23,965,199) (17,317,580)
230 | lll. Investment properties 16 13,033,418 37,538,324
231 1. Cost 16,005,296 49,104,181
232 2. Accumulated depreciation (2,971,878) (11,565,857)
240 | IV. Long-term assets in progress 113,358,029 93,511,565
242 1. Construction in progress 18 113,358,029 93,511,565
250 | V. Long-term investments 19 27,060,860 14,605,235
252 1. Investments in associates,

joint ventures 19.1 9,221,746 1,539,089
253 2. Investments in other entities 19.2 19,388,427 13,892,460
254 3. Provision for long-term

investments 19.2 (1,588,779) (826,314)
255 4. Held-to-maturity investments 39,466 -
260 | VI. Other long-term assets 21,164,104 9,817,377
261 1. Long-term prepaid expenses 12 8,641,393 6,195,116
262 2. Deferred tax assets 36.3 2,430,622 1,262,502
268 3. Other long-term assets 13 5,574,675 1,867,134
269 4. Goodwili 20 4,517,414 492,625
270 | TOTAL ASSETS 836,603,903 667,655,767
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company BO1-DN/HN

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (continued)
as at 31 December 2024

Currency: VND million

Code | RESOURCES Notes Ending balance | Beginning balance
300 | C. LIABILITIES 682,769,422 519,434,081
310 |l Current liabilities 505,292,040 401,298,366
311 1. Short-term trade payables 21.1 45,035,056 34,874,264
312 2. Short-term advances from

customers 212 138,374,890 45,755,699
313 3. Statutory obligations 22 32,757,658 19,397,683
314 4. Payables to employees 2,075,846 1,778,730
315 5. Short-term accrued expenses 23 61,580,081 52,175,889
318 6. Shortterm unearned

revenues 24 4,330,490 4,214,641
319 7. Short-term other payables 25 119,603,634 122,783,141
320 8. Short-term loans and finance

lease obligations 26 95,189,145 116,235,201
321 9. Short-term provisions 28 6,345,240 4,083,118
330 | II. Non-current liabilities 177,477,382 118,135,715
333 1. Long-term accrued expenses 23 648,257 579,186
336 2. Long-term unearned

revenues 24 4,368,280 4,088,954
337 3. Other long-term liabilities 25 28,410,070 7,324,415
338 4. Long-term loans and finance

lease obligations 26 129,041,914 97,018,190
339 5. Exchangeable bonds 27 3,688,998 -
341 6. Deferred tax liabilities 36.3 2,257,717 1,202,316
342 7. Long-term provisions 28 9,062,146 7,922,654
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (continued)
as at 31 December 2024

Currency: VND million

BO1-DN/HN

Code | RESOURCES Notes Ending balance | Beginning balance
400 | D. OWNERS’ EQUITY 153,834,481 148,221,686
410 | 1. Owners’ equity 29 153,834,481 148,221,686
411 1. Share capital 38,785,833 38,785,833
411a - Ordinary shares with

voting rights 38,236,616 38,236,616

411b - Preference shares 549,217 549,217
412 2. Share premium 40,308,020 40,183,879
414 3. Other owners’ capital 15,306,530 22,021,073
415 4. Treasury shares (1,344,123) {1,344,123)
417 5. Foreign exchange differences

reserve (235,621) (109,196)
420 6. Other funds belonging to
owners’ equity 107,845 97,845
421 7. Undistributed earnings 44,468,350 14,105,693
421a - Undistributed earnings by
the end of prior year 14,099,160 14,338,177
421b - Undistributed
earnings/(losses) of
current year 30,369,190 (232,484)
429 8. Non-controlling interests 16,437,647 34,480,682
440 | TOTAL LIABILITIES AND OWNERS’
EQUITY 836,603,903 667,655,767

oy

Hanoi, Vietnam

29 March 2025
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Preparer
Van Thi Hai Ha

Chief Accountant .
Nguyen Thi Thu Hien

Chief Executive Officer

Nguyen Viet Quang



Vingroup Joint Stock Company

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 December 2024

B02-DN/HN

Currency: VND million

Code | ITEMS Notes Current year Previous year

01 1. Revenue from sale of goods and

rendering of services 30.1 189,090,599 161,452,751
02 2. Deductions 30.1 (22,559) (25,183)
10 3. Net revenue from sale of goods

and rendering of services 30.1 189,068,040 161,427,568
11 4. Cost of goods sold and services

rendered 31 (161,767,222) (137,919,092)
20 | 5. Gross profit from sale of goods

and rendering of services 27,300,818 23,508,476
21 6. Finance income 30.3 47,925,492 20,502,485
22 7. Finance expenses 32 (31,208,095) (22,841,357)
23 In which: Interest expenses and

issuance costs (22,980,044) (17,245,871)
24 | 8. Share of profit/{loss) of

associates, joint ventures 19.1 848,773 (97,825)
25 | 9. Selling expenses 33 (18,053,919) (12,513,907)
26 10. General and administrative

expenses 33 (15,148,307) (13,463,255)
30 11. Operating profit/(loss) 11,664,762 (4,905,383)
31 12. Other income 34 10,068,646 22,132,506
32 | 13. Other expenses 34 (4,994,702) (3,457,771)
40 | 14. Other profit 34 5,073,944 18,674,735
50 15. Accounting profit before tax 16,738,706 13,769,352
51 16. Current corporate income tax

expense 36 (12,913,575) (11,287,235)
52 | 17. Deferred tax income/(expense) 36 1,450,927 (426,056)
60 | 18. Net profit after tax 5,276,058 2,056,061
61 19. Net profit after tax attributable to

shareholders of the parent 29.1 11,903,028 2,156,925
62 | 20. Net loss after tax attributable to

non-controlling interests 291 (6,626,970) (100,864)

10




Vingroup Joint Stock Company

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2024

B02-DN/HN

Currency: VND

Code | ITEMS Notes Current year Previous year
70 21. Basic earnings per share 38 3,045 565
71 22. Diluted earnings per share 38 2,976 525

.

Hanoi, Vietnam

29 March 2025

<4

Preparer Chief Accountant i “Chief Executive Officer
Van Thi Hai Ha Nguyen Thi Thu Hien Nguyen Viet Quang

11



Vingroup Joint Stock Company

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 December 2024

BO3-DN/HN

Currency: VND million

21
22

23

24

25

26

27

30

activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Purchase and construction of fixed assets
and other long-term assets

Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets
and other long-term assets

Loans to other entities and payments for
purchase of debt instruments of other
entities

Collections from borrowers and proceeds
from sale of debt instruments of other
entities

Payments for investments in other entities
(net of cash held by entity being acquired)
Proceeds from sale of investments in
other entities (net of cash held by entity
being disposed)

Interest, dividend and distributed profits
received

Net cash flows used in investing activities

20,846,497

(48,567,437)

3,258,753

(30,459,458)

15,675,808

(37,678,330)

79,148,667
1,778,910

(16,843,087)

Code | ITEMS Notes Current year Previous year
I. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
01 | Profit before tax 16,738,706 13,769,352
Adjustments for:
02 Depreciation of tangible fixed assets and
investment properties and amortisation of
intangible fixed assets (including
amortisation of goodwill) 22,627,124 17,605,842
03 Provisions 10,427,372 6,442,431
04 Foreign exchange losses arisen from
revaluation of monetary accounts
denominated in foreign currency 2,567,767 2,523,845
05 Profits from investing activities (43,058,391) (17,296,045)
06 Interest expenses (including issuance
costs) 32 22,980,044 17,245,871
08 | Operating profit before changes in working
capital 32,282,622 40,291,296
09 Increase in receivables (95,017,737) (60,508,784)
10 Increase in inventories (23,011,001) (9,345,650)
11 Increase in payables (other than interest,
corporate income tax) 145,453,938 17,867,029
12 (Increase)/decrease in prepaid expenses (2,666,968) 650,334
13 (Increase)/decrease in held-for-trading
securities (450,000) 2,352,947
14 Interest paid (23,899,300) (14,438,520)
15 Corporate income tax paid (11,845,057) (6,880,320)
20 | Net cash flows from/(used in) operating

(20,011,668)

(54,548,151)

5,774,148

(13,925,224)

12,921,899

(26,339,194)

47,294,434
1,836,680

(26,985,408)

12




Vingroup Joint Stock Company

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2024

Currency: VND million

BO3-DN/HN

Code | ITEMS Notes Current year Previous year
Ill. CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
31 Capital contribution and issuance of
shares (including capital contribution
from non-controlling interests) 15,659,006 10,752,548
32 Capital redemption (10,485,188) -
33 Drawdown of borrowings 157,705,768 115,658,072
34 Repayment of borrowings (151,150,244) (77,620,096)
35 Payment of principal of finance lease
liabilities (128,800) (11,298)
36 Dividends paid to owners-and non-
controlling interests 29.1 (666,188) (60,950)
40 | Net cash flows from financing activities 10,934,354 48,718,276
50 | Netincrease in cash and cash equivalents
for the year 14,937,764 1,721,200
60 | Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year 27,982,623 26,213,302
61 | Impact of foreign exchange rate fluctuation (338,021) 48,121
70 | Cash and cash equivalents at the end of
the year 5 42,582,366 27,982,623

Ty

Hanoi, Vietnam

5% 29 March 2025

Chief Accountant
Nguyen Thi Thu Hien

Preparer
Van Thi Hai Ha
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Chief Executive Officer
Nguyen Viet Quang
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company B09-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Vingroup Joint Stock Company (“the Company”) is a joint stock company established under
the Law on Enterprise of Vietnam pursuant to the Business Registration Certificate No.
0103001016 issued by the Hanoi Department of Planning and Investment on 3 May 2002 and
the Business Registration Certificate No. 0101245486 re-issued on 12 May 2010. The
Company subsequently received amended Enterprise Registration Certificates, with the 73
amendment dated 9 January 2024 as the latest.

The Company’s shares were officially listed on the Ho Chi Minh Stock Exchange (“HOSE")
from 19 September 2007 pursuant to Decision No.108/QD-TTGDHCM issued by the Director
of HOSE on 7 September 2007.

The current principal activities of the Company are to invest in, construct and trade real estate
properties; to carry out capital mobilization and investment activities; and to provide general
administrative services. The current principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are
presented in Appendix 1.

The Group's normal course of business cycle for real estate business starts from the time of
being approved as the project investor and commencement of site clearance, construction
activities to the time of completion and handover to customers. Thus, the Group’s normal
course of business cycle for real estate business can last more than 12 months.

The Group’s normal course of business cycle of other business activities is 12 months.

The Company’s head office is registered at No. 7, Bang Lang 1 Street, Vinhomes Riverside
Urban Area, Viet Hung Ward, Long Bien District, Hanoi, Vietnam. Its branch is located at No.
72, Le Thanh Ton Street and No. 45A, Ly Tu Trong Street, Ben Nghe Ward, District 1, Ho Chi
Minh City, Vietnam.

The number of the Company’s employees as at 31 December 2024 is: 367 (31 December Tl
2023: 327). =

As at 31 December 2024, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the
Group”):

» Have 112 subsidiaries (as at 31 December 2023: 110 subsidiaries). The information on
these subsidiaries, along with the Company’s voting rights and equity interest in each
subsidiary are detailed in the Appendix 1,

» Hold investments in a number of associates and joint venture as disclosed in Note 19.1.

14



Vingroup Joint Stock Company B09-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENITS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

BASIS OF PREPARATION
Using going concern assumption in preparing the consolidated financial statements

As of 31 December 2024, the Group's current assets were lower than its current liabilities by
VND108,812 billion (as at 31 December 2023: VND57,762 billion). Additionally, Vingroup
JSC, as the parent company, alsoc commits to continue providing necessary financial support
to certain subsidiaries to the best of its ability. As a result, the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern is dependent on the achievement of the Group’s business and financing plans,
and continued support from its lenders.

As at the date of these consolidated financial statements, the Group has set out its business
plan and cash flow projection covering the next twelve months from the date of issuance,
which includes, amongst others, the followings:

» cash flows expected to be generated from its on-going real estate projects and fund-
raising activities to re-finance its existing obligations and to finance new projects;

» cash savings expected from the Group’s initiatives to optimize operational efficiency.

Furthermore, the Group also has the ability to adjust the timing of certain expenditure, if
necessary.

As aresult, the Group expects to be able to continue its operations and pay its liabilities in the
normal course of business in the next 12 months from the issuance date of these consolidated
financial statements, and, accordingly, will be able to realize its assets and discharge its
liabilities in normal course of operations as they come due. On this basis, management of the
Group has prepared the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2024 using going concern basis. The consolidated financial statements do not include any
adjustments to assets and liabilities that may be necessary if the Group is unable to continue
as a going concern.

15
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company B09-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

2.2

2.3

24

2.5

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Accounting standards and system

The consolidated financial statements of the Group, which are expressed in Vietnam dong
("VND"), are prepared in accordance with Vietnamese Enterprise Accounting System and
Vietnamese Accounting Standard issued by the Ministry of Finance as per:

» Decision No. 149/2001/QD-BTC dated 31 December 2001 on the lIssuance and
Promulgation of Four Vietnamese Accounting Standards (Series 1);

» Decision No. 165/2002/QD-BTC dated 31 December 2002 on the lIssuance and
Promulgation of Six Viethamese Accounting Standards (Series 2);

» Decision No. 234/2003/QD-BTC dated 30 December 2003 on the lssuance and
Promulgation of Six Vietnamese Accounting Standards (Series 3);

» Decision No. 12/2005/QD-BTC dated 15 February 2005 on the Issuance and
Promulgation of Six Vietnamese Accounting Standards (Series 4); and

» Decision No. 100/2005/QD-BTC dated 28 December 2005 on the Issuance and
Promulgation of Four Vietnamese Accounting Standards (Series 5).

Accordingly, the accompanying consolidated financial statements, inciuding their utilisation
are not designed for those who are not informed about Vietnam’s accounting principles,
procedures and practices and furthermore are not intended to present the consolidated
financial position and the consolidated results of operations and the consolidated cash flows
of the Group in accordance with accounting principles and practices generally accepted in
countries other than Vietnam.

Applied accounting documentation system
The Group’s applied accounting documentation system is the General Journal system.
Fiscal year

The Group’s fiscal year applicable for the preparation of its consolidated financial statements
starts on 1 January and ends on 31 December.

Accounting currency
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in Vietnam dong (“VND") which is also
the Company’s accounting currency. For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial

statements for the year ended 31 December 2024, all amounts are rounded to the nearest
million and presented in Vietnam dong mitlion (“VND million”).

16



Vingroup Joint Stock Company B0O9-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

2.6

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Subsidiaries are fully consoclidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continued to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the
parent company, using consistent accounting policies.

All intra-company balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains or losses resuiting
from intra-company transactions are eliminated in full.

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets not held by the
Group and are presented separately in the consolidated income statement and within equity
in the consolidated balance sheet.

Impact of change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
recorded in undistributed earnings.

In case the Group disposes a partial interest in a subsidiary and loses control but retains an
interest as an associate or joint venture, the Group’s investment is accounted for using the
equity method of accounting. Profit/(loss) from this transaction is recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

In case the Group contributes capital by non-monetary assets or disposes assets to an
associate or joint venture, the gain resuiting from the transaction is recognised in the Group’s
consolidated income statement only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that
associate or joint venture. The remaining part of the gain is recognised in unearned revenue
and after that recognised in the Group’s consolidated income statement in accordance with
the time in which the asset recovered in financial statements of that associate or joint venture.

In case the Group disposes a partial interest in a subsidiary and loses control but retains an
interest as an investment in other entities, the Group’s investment is accounted for using the
cost method. Profit/(loss) from this transaction is recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

in case the Group previously disposed a partial interest in a subsidiary and recognised
difference between the consideration and carrying amount of the transferred equity interest in
undistributed earnings in the consolidated balance sheet, and then disposes a further interest
in that subsidiary which results in a loss of control, thereby, the Group recycled the difference
recognised previously in undistributed earnings to the consolidated income statement.
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company B0O9-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

3.2

3.3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Change in accounting policies and disclosures

The accounting policies adopted by the Group in preparation of the consolidated financial
statements are consistent with those followed in the preparation of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 except for the change in the
accounting policy in relation to the following.

Change in the accounting and presentation of balances and transactions related to letters of
credit/letters of credit payable (“UPAS LC”)

According to Circular No. 21/2024/TT-NHNN issued by the State Bank of Vietnam on 28 June
2024 (*Circular 21"), which regulates the operations of letters of credit and other business
activities related to letters of credit and takes effect from 1 July 2024, the UPAS LC operation
is considered a form of bank loan.

Accordingly, the Group has reclassified the payable balances of UPAS LC as of 1 July 2024
from “Other short-term payables” to “Short-term loan and finance lease obligations”. From this
date, UPAS LC transactions are accounted for and presented as short-term bank loans.

The corresponding figures related to UPAS LC operations is not restated as Circular 21 does
not require the retrospective application of the aforementioned changes.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash in transit, cash at banks and short-
term, highly liquid investments with an original maturity of not more than three months and
investments with maturity of not more than three months since investment date that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and that are subject to an insignificant risk of change
in value.

Inventories

Inventory property

Property acquired or being constructed for sale in the ordinary course of business, rather than
to be held for rental or capital appreciation, is held as inventory and is measured at the lower
of cost incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition, and net
realisable value.

Cost of inventory property comprise direct cost incurred on the property and overheads
allocated based on the appropriateness of that property, specifically as follows: :

» Freehold and leasehold rights for land;
» Amounts paid to contractors for construction; and

» Borrowing costs, planning and design costs, costs of site preparation, professional fees
for legal services, property transfer taxes, construction overheads and other related costs.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of the business, based
on market price at the consolidated balance sheet date, and less cost to complete and the
estimated selling price.

The cost of the inventory property sold recognised in the consolidated income statement
based on specific identification method.
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company B09-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

3.3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Inventories (continued)

Inventory for manufacturing activities

Inventories are measured at their historical costs. The cost of inventories comprises costs of
purchase, costs of conversion (including raw materials, direct labour cost, other directly
related cost, manufacturing general overheads allocated based on the normal operating

capacity) incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

In case the net realisable value is lower than the original price, it must be calculated according
to the net realisable value.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of the business less
estimated costs to complete and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

The perpetual method is used to record inventories, which are valued as follows:

Raw materials, tools - cost of purchase on a weighted average basis.
and consumables

Finished goods and - cost of finished goods and work in-process on a weighted average
work-in process basis.
Other inventories

Other inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are valued
on a weighted average basis and include all costs incurred in bringing each product to its
present location and condition. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs to complete and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

The periodic method is used to record the costs of inventories for hospitality and related
services.

The perpetual method is used to record the costs of other inventories.
Provision for obsolete inventories

An inventory provision is made for the estimated loss arising due to the impairment of value
(through diminution, damage, obsolescence, etc.) of raw materials, finished goods, and other
inventories owned by the Group, based on appropriate evidence of impairment available at
the consolidated balance sheet date.

Increases and decreases to the provision balance are recorded into the cost of goods sold
account in the consolidated income statement. When inventories are expired, obsolescence,
damage or become useless, the difference between the provision previously made and the
historical cost of inventories are included in the consolidated income statement.
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company B09-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

3.

34

3.5

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Receivables

Receivables are presented in the consolidated financial statements at the carrying amounts
due from customers and other debtors, after provision for doubtful debts.

The provision for doubtful debts represents amounts of outstanding receivables at the
consolidated balance sheet date which are doubtful of being recovered. Increases and
decreases to the provision balance are recorded as general and administrative expenses in
the consolidated income statement. When bad debts are determined as unrecoverable and
accountant writes off those bad debts, the difference between the provision for doubtful
receivables previously made and historical cost of receivables are included in the
consolidated income statement.

The Group contributes shopping malls to the Investment Cooperation Contracts, in which
counterparties have the right to operate, exploit, and manage these components from the
commencement of operations. Accordingly, the Group will receive a share of the profits from
the operations, business activities, and leasing activities of these shopping malls. In these
cases, the Group’s capital contribution to the Investment Cooperation Contracts will be
recognized as other receivables on the consolidated balance sheet at the time the Group
hands over the assets to the counterparties for operation and exploitation.

Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.

The cost of a tangible fixed asset comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the tangible fixed asset to working condition for its intended use and the costs of
dismantling and removing the asset and restoring the site on which it is located, if any.

Expenditures for additions, improvements and renewals are added to the carrying amount of
the assets and expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to the consolidated
income statement as incurred. Expenditure on overhaul of tangible fixed assets incurred in
the year is recognised in the consolidated income statement or is depreciated in a maximum
period of 3 years.

When tangible fixed assets are sold or retired, any gain or loss resulting from their disposal

(the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount) is included in the
consolidated income statement.
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company B0O9-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

3.6

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leased assets

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the
substance of the arrangement at inception date and requires an assessment of whether the
fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset and the arrangement
conveys a right to use the asset.

A lease is classified as a finance lease whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to the lessee. All other leases are classified
as operating leases.

Where the Group is the lessee

Assets held under finance leases are capitalised in the consolidated balance sheet at the
inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased assets or, if lower, at the net present value
of the minimum lease payments. The principal amount included in future lease payments
under finance leases are recorded as a liability. The interest amounts included in lease
payments are charged to the consolidated income statement over the lease term to achieve
a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the finance lease liability.

Capitalised financial leased assets are depreciated using straight-line method over the shorter
of the estimated useful live of the asset and the lease term, if there is no reasonable certainty
that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.

Rentals under operating leases are charged to the consolidated income statement on a
straight-line method over the lease term.

Where the Group is the lessor

Assets subject to operating leases are included as the Group’s investment properties or
tangible fixed assets in the consolidated balance sheet. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating an operating lease are recognised in the consolidated income statement as
incurred.

Lease income is recognised in the consolidated income statement on a straight-line method over
the lease term.

The net investment under finance lease contracts is included as a receivable in the consolidated
balance sheet. The interest amount of the leased payments is recognised in the consolidated
income statement over the period of the lease contracts to achieve a constant rate of interest on
the net investment outstanding.
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company B09-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

3.7

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Intangible fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation.

The cost of an intangible fixed asset comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of preparing the intangibie asset for its intended use.

Expenditures for additions, improvements are added to the carrying amount of the assets and
other expenditures are charged to the consolidated income statement as incurred.

When intangible fixed assets are sold or retired, any gain or loss resulting from their disposal
{the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount) is included in the
consolidated income statement.

Land use rights

Definite and indefinite land use rights are recorded as intangible fixed assets based on land
use right certificates issued by governing bodies.

The advance payment for land rental, of which the land lease contracts have effectiveness
prior to 2003, and land use right certificate being issued, are recorded as intangible fixed asset
according to Circular No. 45/2013/TT-BTC issued by the Ministry of Finance on 25 April 2013
guiding the management, use and depreciation of fixed assets (“Circular 457).

Research and development costs

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development expenditure on an individual project
is recognised as an infangible fixed asset only if the Group can demonstrate all the following
conditions:

» The technical feasibility study of completing the intangible fixed asset so that it will be
available for use or sale;

The intention to complete and use or sell the intangible fixed asset;
The ability to use or sell the intangible fixed asset;

The asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

Yy ¥ v v

The availability of resources to complete the development and to use or sell the intangible
fixed asset;

» The ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development; and
» They are estimated to meet all criteria for use duration and value prescribed for intangible
fixed assets.

Development costs capitalised as intangible fixed asset are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation of the asset begins when development is completed, and the asset
is available for use.
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company B09-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

3.8

3.9

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets and amortisation of intangible fixed assets are calculated
on a straight-line method over the estimated useful life of each asset as follows:

Buildings and structures 5~ 50 years
Machinery and equipment 3 —-25years
Means of transportation 3 — 25 years
Office equipment 2 - 15 years
Computer software 3 —8years
Land use rights with definite term 30 — 48 years
Copyright, development expenditure and other related assets 2 -10years
Others 2 —20vyears

The estimated useful life of land use rights with definite term is recorded based on the term
of land use rights issued by governing bodies.

No amortisation is charged on the land use rights with indefinite terms.
Investment properties

Investment properties are stated at cost, including transaction costs, less accumulated
depreciation and amortisation.

Subsequent expenditure relating to an investment property that has already been recognised
is added to the net book value of the investment property when it is probable that future
economic benefits, in excess of the originally assessed standard of performance of the
existing investment property, will flow to the Group.

Depreciation and amortisation of investment properties are calculated on a straight-line
method over the estimated useful life of each asset as follows:

Land use rights, buildings and structures 5~ 50 years
Machinery and equipment 3 —-20years

No amortization is charged on land use rights with indefinite terms that are presented as
investment properties.

For long-term lease of investment properties which the Group receives rental fee in advance
for many periods and rental income is recognised one time at the entire rental amount
received in advance, depreciation and amortisation of these investment properties are
recognised with entire amount at the point of revenue recognition.

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the
investment properties are permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is
expected from its disposal.

Transfers from owner-occupied properties or inventories to investment properties are made
when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by ending of owner-occupation
and commencement of an operating lease to another party or ending of construction or
development. Transfers from investment properties to owner-occupied properties or
inventories are made when, there is change in use, evidenced by commencement of owner-
occupation or commencement of development with a view to sale. The transfer from
investment property to owner-occupied property or inventories does not change the cost or
the carrying value of the property for subsequent accounting at the date of change in use.
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company B09-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

3.10

3.11

3.12

3.13

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents the costs of acquiring new assets that have not yet been
fully installed or the costs of construction that have not yet been fully completed. Construction
in progress is stated at cost, which includes all necessary costs to construct, repair, renovate,
expand, or re-equip the projects with technologies, such as construction costs, tools and
equipment costs, project management costs, construction consulting costs, and borrowing
costs that are eligible for capitalization.

Construction in progress will be transferred to the appropriate fixed asset or investment
property account when these assets are fully installed or the construction project is fully
completed, and depreciation of these assets will commence when they are ready for their
intended use.

Construction costs are recognised as expenses when such costs do not meet the conditions
to be recognised as fixed assets or investment properties.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that the Group incurs in connection with
the borrowing of funds.

Borrowing costs are recorded as expense during the year in which they are incurred, except
to the extent that they are capitalised as explained in the following paragraph.

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of
an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the respective asset.

Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses are reported as short-term or long-term prepaid expenses on the
consolidated balance sheet and amortised over the period for which the amounts are paid or
the period in which economic benefits are generated in relation to these expenses.

tong-term prepaid expenses include long-term prepaid land rental, pre-operation
expenditure, tools and supplies, and other prepaid expenses that bring future economic
benefits for more than one year.

The prepaid land rental represents the unamortised balance of advance payment or accrual
made in accordance with Land Rental Contract signed with authorities and other expenditures
offset against land rental fee obligation. Such prepaid land rental is recognised as a long-term
prepaid expense for allocation to the consolidated income statement over the remaining lease
period according to Circular No. 45/2013/TT-BTC.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of a business
combination is measured as the fair value of assets given, equity instruments issued and
liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange plus any costs directly attributable to
the business combination. Identifiable assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured initially at fair values at the date of business
combination.
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company B0O9-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

3.

3.13

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

In case prior to the date that control is obtained, the investment is an investment in associate,
joint venture, or a long-term investment and the acquisition of that subsidiary is a business
combination, when preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Group shall
remeasure its previously held equity interests at its acquisition-date fair value and recognise
the resulting gain or loss, if any, in the consolidated income statement.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost being the excess of
the cost the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. If the cost of a business
combination is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the
difference is recognised directly in the consolidated income statement. After initial recognition,
goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation. Goodwill is amortised over
10-year period on a straight-line basis. The Group conducts the periodical review for
impairment of goodwill of investment in subsidiaries. If there are indicators of impairment loss
incurred is higher than the yearly allocated amount of goodwill on the straight-line basis, the
higher amount will be recorded in the consolidated income statement.

Assets acquisitions and business combinations

In cases the Group acquires subsidiaries that own assets and business operations, at the
time of acquisition, the Group considers whether the acquisition represents the acquisition of
a business. The Group accounts for an acquisition as a business combination where an
integrated set of activities is acquired in addition to the assets.

When the acquisition of subsidiaries does not represent a business combination, it is
accounted for as an acquisition of a group of assets and liabilities. The cost of the acquisition
is allocated to the assets and liabilities acquired based upon their relative fair values, and no
goodwill or deferred tax is recognised. Non-controlling interests in the acquired identifiable
assets and liabilities are also recognised. The acquired assets and liabilities are presented in
classes of assets and liabilities with the same characteristics of the Group.

In case prior to the date that control is obtained, the investment is an investment in associate,
or a long-term investment of the Group and the acquisition of the subsidiary is not a business
combination, when preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Group shall not re-
measure the previously held equity interests. Instead, previously held equity interests and the
consideration was allocated to the assets and liabilities acquired based on their relative fair
values on acquisition date.

Change of equity interest in subsidiary without loss of control
When there are changes in equity interest of the Group in subsidiaries, the difference between

the consideration and the carrying amount of the changed equity interest in net assets is
recognised in undistributed earnings.
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company B09-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

3.13

3.14

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Business combinations involving entities under common control

A business combination involving entities under common control is a business combination in
which all of the combining entities or businesses are ultimately controlled by the same party
or parties both before and after the business combination, and that control is not transitory.
An entity can be under common control of an individual or a group of individuals following a
contractual agreement.

Business combinations involving entities under common control are accounted for as follows:

» The assets and liabilities of the two combined entities are reflected at their carrying
amounts on the date of business combination;

No goodwill is recognised from the business combination;

The consolidated income statement reflects the resuits of the combined entities from the
date of the business combination; and

» Any difference between the consideration paid and the net assets of the acquiree is
recorded in equity.

After the date of the business combination, when the Group disposes a part or full of equity
interest in subsidiary, the difference between the consideration paid and the net assets of the
subsidiary previously recognised in equity is allocated and recorded in undistributed earnings
of the consolidated balance sheet.

Investments
Investment in associates

When the Group acquires investment in associates, the difference between the acquisition
cost and the investor's interest in the fair value of net identifiable assets of investees is
accounted for as follows:

- Goodwill arising from the acquisition of an investment in associates is included in the
investment amount. The Group is not allowed to amortise this goodwill gradually.

- The difference between the Group's interest in the fair value of the investee's net
identifiable assets that is greater than the acquisition cost is recognised immediately as
the gain when determining the Group's interest in the consolidated income statements of
the associates in accordance with the period of acquisition of the investment.

- Adjustments related to the Group’s interest in the consolidated income statements of the
associates after the date of acquisition must be made, such as the impairment of fixed
assets or depreciation of fixed assets based on their fair value at the acquisition date.

The Group’s investment in associates is accounted for using the equity method of accounting.
An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence that is neither
subsidiaries nor joint venture. The Group generally deems they have significant influence if
they have over 20% of the voting rights.

Under the equity method, the investment is carried in the consolidated balance sheet at cost
pius post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associates. Goodwill
arising from acquisition of the associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment.
Goodwill is not amortised and subject to annual review for impairment.
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company B0O9-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

3.14

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments (continued)
Investment in associates (continued)

The share of post-acquisition profit/(loss) of the associates is presented on face of the
consolidated income statement and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is
recognised in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the
carrying amount of the investment. Dividend/profit sharing receivable from associates
reduces the carrying amount of the investment.

The financial statements of the associates are prepared for the same reporting period and
used the same accounting policies as the Group. Where necessary, adjustments are made
to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

The Group ceases the use of the equity method of accounting since the date it no longer has
significant influence over the associate. If the retained equity interest is a long-term
investment, the entity measures the retained equity interest at fair value regarded as the cost
on initial recognition. Profit/(loss) from the disposal of associate is recognised in the
consolidated income statement. The unrealised profits related to interest of the Group in joint
venture or associates at the time of ceasing the application of the equity method is also
recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Investments in joint venture

The Group’s investment in joint venture is accounted for using the equity method of
accounting. Under the equity method, the investment is carried in the consolidated balance
sheet at cost plus post joint venture entity changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the
joint venture entity.

The share of profit/(loss) of joint venture is presented on face of the consolidated income
statement and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in reserves.
The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the
investment. Dividend/profit sharing receivable from joint venture reduces the carrying amount
of the investment.

The financial statements of the joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period and
use the same accounting policies as the Group. Where necessary, adjustments are made to
bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

Held-for-trading securities and investments in other entities

Held-for-trading securities and investments in other entities are stated at their acquisition
costs.

Provision for diminution in value of investments
Provision for diminution in value of the investment is made when there are reliable evidence
of the diminution in value of those investments at the balance sheet date. Increases or

decreases to the provision balance are recorded as finance expense in the consolidated
income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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3.14

3.15

3.16

3.17

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments (continued)
Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are stated at their acquisition costs. After initial recognition,
these investments are measured at recoverable amount. Any impairment loss incurred is
recognised as finance expenses in the consolidated income statement and deducted against
the value of such investments.

Payables and accruals

Payables and accruals are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods and
services received, whether billed to the Group or not.

Accrual for severance pay

The severance pay to employee is accrued at the end of each reporting year for employees
who have been worked for more than 12 months at the Group. The accrued amount is
calculated at the rate of one-half of the average monthly salary for each year of service
qualified for severance pay in accordance with the Labor Code and related implementing
guidance. The average monthly salary used in this calculation will be adjusted at the end of
each reporting year following the average monthly salary of the last 6-month period up to the
reporting date. Increases or decreases to the accrued amount other than actual payment to
employee will be taken to the consolidated income statement.

This accrued severance pay is used to settle the termination allowance to be paid to employee
upon termination of their labour contract following Article 46 of the Labour Code.

Provisions
General provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as
a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all provisions to be reimbursed, for example under an
insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the
reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the
consolidated income statement net of any reimbursement.

The Group assesses onerous contracts are those contracts in which, the unavoidable costs
of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be
received under it. The unavoidable costs under a contract reflect the least net cost of exiting
from the contract, which is the lower of the cost of fulfilling it and any compensation or
penalties arising from failure to fulfil it. The Group recognised and assessed obligations under
onerous confracts as provisions and these provisions are made for each onerous contract.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current
pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where
discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as
a finance expense.

28



Vingroup Joint Stock Company B09-DN/HN
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3.17

3.18

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Provisions (continued)
Provision for warranty for construction works and inventory properties

Warranty provisions for construction works and inventory properties are provisions for costs
related to construction works and inventory properties that have been handed over to buyers
but are still within the warranty period, and the Group is still obligated to continue repairing
according to the contracts or commitments with customers.

Warranty provisions for construction works and inventory properties are made for each
construction project or properties that have been completed and handed over during the year.
The warranty provision for construction works and inventory properties is recognised as part
of overhead expenses. When the warranty period for construction works has expired, in case
where the warranty provision for construction works and inventory properties exceeds the
actual costs incurred, the difference is reversed and recognised as other income.

The warranty provisions are established based on estimates derived from historical statistical
warranty data associated with similar products, goods, services, and construction projects.

Provision for warranty expenses of sold vehicles

The Group provides customers purchasing cars with the manufacturer's warranty policy for
all new vehicle models at the time of sale, as well as warranty for electric vehicle batteries.
The Group determines the standard warranty period (“assurance type”) for internal-
combustion-engine (“ICE") cars, electric vehicles (“"EVs"), E-scooter, batteries, and other
components primarily based on assessments of nature, frequency, and average warranty
costs, as well as comparisons with other companies in the same industry in the market.
Accordingly, the Group recognises provision for warranty costs corresponding to assurance
type in the selling expenses in the consolidated income statement.

The Group estimates provision for warranty costs of products sold based on the Group’s
estimates of future costs to replace and repair sold products in accordance with the published
warranty policies for each vehicle model, number of products sold, and available information
on the repair and replacement of products sold in the past.

As for the extended warranty beyond standard warranty period, the Group evaluates and

recognises it as a separate performance obligation and only recognises revenue when the
obligation has been fulfilled as disclosed in Note 3.24.

Bonds issued

Straight bonds

At initial recognition, straight bonds are measured at cost which comprises proceed from
issuance net of issuance costs. Any discount, premium and issuance costs are amortized on
a straight-line basis over the term of the bond.
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3.18

3.19

3.20

3.21

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Bonds issued (continued)
Exchangeable bonds

Exchangeable bonds issued by subsidiaries that can be exchanged into a number of ordinary
shares of the Company, is presented in Exchangeable bonds account (for long-term
exchangeable bonds) or Short-term loans and financial lease obligations account (for current
portion of exchangeable bonds) in the consolidated balance sheet.

Exchangeable bonds issued by the Company that can be exchanged into a number of
ordinary shares of other entities are recognised entirely as a liability and presented in Short-
term or Long-term loans and finance lease obligations accounts in the consolidated balance
sheet.

Bond issuance costs

Transaction costs relating to bond/loan issuance are charged to the consolidated income
statement on a straight-line basis over the tenor of the bonds/loans. At initial recognition, these
transaction costs are deducted from liability component of the bonds/loans.

Advances from customers

Payments received from customers as deposits for the purchase of goods and services in the
future that do not meet the conditions for revenue recognition, are recognised and presented
as “Advances from customers” in the liabilities section in the consolidated balance sheet.
Supports under promotion programs which are, in substance, revenue deductions are
presented as deductions against “Advances from customers” for the purchase of goods and
services that do not meet the conditions for revenue recognition in the year.

Foreign currency transactions

The Group applies guidance of Circular 53/2016/TT-BTC dated 21 March 2016 amending and
supplementing some articles of Circular 200/2014/TT-BTC to record foreign currency
transactions.

Transactions in currencies other than the Group’s reporting currency (“VND") are recorded at
the exchange rate that approximates the average of buying and selling transfer exchange
rates announced by the commercial bank where the Group most frequently conducts its
transactions (“the average fransfer exchange rate”). This approximate exchange rate does
not exceed +/- 1% of the average transfer exchange rate. The average transfer exchange rate
is determined daily based on the average of daily buying transfer rates and selling transfer
rates of the commercial bank.

Borrowing contracts which are hedged by cross-currency interest rate swap contracts (“swap
contracts”) are translated at the exchange rates determined in the swap contracts (Note 3.27).

At the end of the year, balances of monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
transiated at the transfer exchange rate announced by the commercial bank where the Group
most frequently conducts its transactions. This transfer exchange rate is the average transfer
exchange rate of the commercial bank. For foreign currencies deposited at the bank, the
exchange rate used for revaluation is the buying exchange rate of the bank where the Group
opens its foreign currency account.

Ali foreign exchange differences incurred are taken to the consolidated income statement.
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company B09-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

3.21

3.22

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency transactions (continued)
Conversion of the financial statements of foreign operations

Conversion of the financial statements of subsidiaries of the Group which maintain its
accounting records in currencies other than the Group’s accounting currency (VND), for
consolidation purpose, is as follows:

- Assets and liabilities are converted into VND by using the buying and selling exchange
rates, respectively, as announced by the commercial banks where the Company
frequently conducts its transactions at the consolidated balance sheet date.

- Revenues, other income and expenses are converted into VND by using the actual
transactional exchange rates; or the average exchange rates if the average exchange
rates do not exceed +/- 2% the transactional exchange rates.

- Aliforeign exchange differences resulting from conversion of the financial statements of
the subsidiary for the consolidation purpose are taken to the “foreign exchange rate
differences reserve” on the consolidated balance sheet and charged to the consolidated
income statement upon the disposal of the investment.

Share capital

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are recognised at issuance price less incremental costs directly attributable

to the issue of shares, net of tax effects. Such costs are recognised as a deduction from share

premium.

Share premium

Share premium is the difference between the par value and the issuance price of the shares,
minus the actual expenses incurred for the issuance of the shares.

Preference shares

Preference shares are classified as equity if the Company has no obligation to redeem those
preference shares.

Preference shares are classified as liabilities if the Company is required to redeem those
preference shares at a specified future date and the obligation to redeem the shares is clearly
stated in the issuance documentation at the time of issuance.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired (treasury shares) are recognised at cost and

deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement
upon purchase, sale, re-issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

3.23

3.24

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Appropriation of net profits

Net profit after tax (excluding negative goodwill arising from bargain purchases) is available
for appropriation to shareholders after approval by shareholders at the General Shareholders’
Meeting, and after making appropriation to reserve funds in accordance with the Company’s
Charter, each subsidiary’s Charter and Vietnam'’s regulatory requirements.

The Group recognises the distribution of cash dividends when such distribution is approved
by the shareholders at the General Shareholders’ Meeting. The Group recognises the
distribution of stock dividends when such distribution and share issuance are approved by the
shareholders at the General Shareholders’ Meeting and by the authorised State bodies.

The Group maintains the reserve funds which are appropriated from the Group’s net profit
after approval by shareholders at the General Shareholders’ Meeting.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value
of the consideration received or receivable, excluding trade discount, rebate and sales return.
The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Revenue from sale of inventory properties

Revenue from sale of inventory properties is recognised when the significant risks and
rewards associated with the ownership of the properties have been transferred to the buyer.
Revenue from sales of inventory properties also includes revenue from transfer of real estate
projects.

For lease of assets which the Group receives rental fee in advance for many periods and the
lease periods cover more than 90% of the useful life of the assets, rental income is recognised
one time at the entire rental amount received in advance when all these conditions are met:

> The lessee is not entitled to cancel the lease contract and the Group has no obligation to
repay the amount received in advance in any cases and in any forms;

» The amount received in advance from the lease is not less than 90% of the total rental
amount expected to be fulfilled under the contract during the lease term and the lessee
must pay the entire amount of lease within 12 months from the beginning of the lease;

» Almost all the risks and benefits associated with ownership of the leased asset are
transferred to the lessee; and

¥ The Group must estimate relatively the full cost of the lease.
Revenue from leasing of properties

Rental income arising from operating lease is recognised in the consolidated income
statement on a straight-line basis over the lease terms of ongoing leases.

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have
been passed to the buyer, usually upon the delivery of the goods.
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3.24

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Rendering of services

Revenue from hotel, amusement park, education, hospital, real estate management and other
related services are recorded when the services are rendered, and the outcome of the
contract is certainly determined.

Revenue from goods and services in bundle package

In the transactions where the Group provides multiple products and services to the customers
in the same arrangement, the Group determines the obligations to provide the products and
the obligations to render the services and/or related goods separately and only recognises
the revenue when each individual obligation is completed by the Group. In transactions where
the obligations of the seller arise at the current time and in the future, revenues must be
allocated according to the relative fair value of each obligation, and are recorded when the
obligations are fuifilled. Payments from customers under contracts corresponding to the
unfulfilled obligations wili be recognised in advance from customers/unearned revenues in the
consolidated balance sheet.

Residual Value Guarantee for electric vehicles

The Group has a number of programs to sell electric vehicles to customers with a commitment
to a minimum residual value guarantee. The Group estimates the fair value of this commitment
{(and record this as a liability) and deducts it from the contract value at initial recognition. The
remainder of the contract value will be allocated to contract obligations for revenue recognition
purpose.

Subsequently, the Group remeasures the fair value of those guarantees. Increase and
decrease of the fair value will be recognised in the consolidated income statement

Gains from transfer of capital/shares and held-for-trading securities

Gains from transfer of capital/shares and held-for-trading securities are determined as the
excess of selling prices against the cost of shares/securities and capital sold. Such gains are
recognised on the transaction date when the relevant contracts are executed.

Interest income

Interest is recognised on an accrual basis based on the time and effective interest rate for
each period.

Dividends and profit distribution income

Dividend and profit distribution income are recognised when the Group is entitled to receive
dividends or when the Group is entitled to receive profits from its capital contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

3.25

3.26

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Construction contract

Where the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, revenue and costs
are recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the
consolidated balance sheet date based on the construction works as certified by customers.
Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments are included to the extent that they
have been agreed with the customer.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue
is recognised to the extent of contract costs incurred that is probably recoverable. Contract
costs are recognised as expenses in the year in which they are incurred.

Taxation
Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior year are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and
tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted as at the consolidated
balance sheet date.

Current income tax is charged or credited to the consolidated income statement, except when
it relates to items recognised directly to equity, in which case the current income tax is also
dealt with in equity.

Current income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right
for the Group to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the Group
intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the
consolidated balance sheet date between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amount for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

» where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in
a transaction which at the time of the related transaction affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

» in respect of taxable temporarily differences associated with investments in subsidiaries
and associates, and interests in joint venture where timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference can be controlled, and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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3.26

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Taxation (continued)
Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carried forward
unused tax credit and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
wili be available against which deductible temporary differences, carried forward unused tax
credit and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

» where the deferred tax asset in respect of deductible temporary difference which arises
from the initial recognition of an asset or liability which at the time of the related
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss at the time
transaction incurred; and

» in respect of deductible temporarily differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint venture, deferred tax assets are recognised
only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profits will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each consolidated balance sheet
date and reduced to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Previously unrecognised deferred
tax assets are re-assessed at each consolidated balance sheet date and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax
assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in
the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled based on tax rates and tax laws
that have been enacted at the consolidated balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is charged or credited to the consolidated income statement, except when it
relates to items recognised directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with
in the equity account.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right for the
Group to off-set current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income
taxes levied by the same taxation authority on:

» either the same taxable entity; or

» when the Group intends either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or
to realise the assets and settle the fiabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.
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3.27

3.28

3.29

3.30

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Cross-currency and interest rate swap contract

The Group enters into swap contracts to mitigate the risk relating to fluctuation of interest rate
and exchange rate for its borrowing contracts. The Group recognises and translates principal
and interest expenses related to borrowing contracts, which the risks are mitigated by swap
contracts at the interest rates and exchange rates determined in the swap contracts.

Earnings/loss per share

Basic earnings/loss per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit/{loss) after tax for
the year attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Group (after adjusting for the bonus and
welfare fund) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit/(loss) after tax
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Group (after adjusting for interest expense of
exchangeable bonds and dividend of the convertible preference shares) by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average
number of ordinary shares that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential
ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

Segment information

A segment is a component determined separately by the Group which is engaged in providing
products or related services (business segment) or providing products or services in a
particular economic environment (geographical segment), that is subject to risks and returns
that are different from those of other segments. Management defines the Group's segment
report to be based on type of products and services provided. The Group’s management is of
the view that the Group’s geographical segment is derived mainly from revenues and profit in
Vietnam. Therefore, presentation of geographical segment is not required.

Related parties

Parties are considered to be related parties of the Group if one party has the ability to, directly
or indirectly, control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in
making financial and operating decisions, or when the Group and other party are under
common control or under common significant influence. Related parties can be enterprises or
individuals, including close members of their families.
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4.1

4.2

SIGNIFICANT ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS DURING THE YEAR

During the year, the Group carried out certain significant acquisitions and disposals of shares
and equity capital as follows:

Acquisition of group of assets

Acquisition of Cam Ranh Investment Joint Stock Company (‘Cam Ranh JSC”)

in January 2024, the Group acquired 100% voting shares of Cam Ranh JSC from
counterparties. Total purchase consideration is VND10,646 billion. Accordingly, Cam Ranh
JSC became a subsidiary of the Group. The principal activities of Cam Ranh JSC are to invest,
construct and trade real estate properties.

This transaction is assessed as acquisition of a group of assets.
Business combination

During the year, the Group has acquired new subsidiaries, with certain significant transactions
as below:

Transactions of Vinpearl Joint Stock Company (“Vinpearl JSC”)
Increase in charter capital

In January 2024, according to Resolution No.01/2024/NQ-DHDCD-VPJSC, the General
Meeting of Shareholders of Vinpearl JSC approved the plan to increase its charter capital by
private offering of shares to employees and to a number of identified investors to supplement
its investment capital (which will be for capital contribution, acquisition of shares of other
companies, for capital investment) and for its working capital requirements. The total
additional capital contributed from the offering of shares to employees and to these investors
is VND15,617 billion, which was used to acquire shares owned by these investors in
Landmark 81 Hotel Investment and Development Joint Stock Company, Thanh Hoa Hotel
Investment and Development Joint Stock Company and VinWonders Nha Trang Joint Stock
Company.
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4.2

SIGNIFICANT ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS DURING THE YEAR (continued)
Business combination (continued)
Transactions of Vinpear! JSC {continued)

Acquisition of Landmark 81 Hotel Investment and Development Joint Stock Company
(“Landmark 81 Hotel JSC”)

In February 2024, the Group acquired 99.99% voting shares in Landmark 81 Hotel JSC from
counterparties. The total purchase consideration was VND3,685 billion. Thereby, Landmark
81 Hotel JSC became a subsidiary of the Group. The principal activity of Landmark 81 Hotel
JSC is to provide short-stay services.

The consideration and the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of Landmark 81 Hotel
JSC, which were measured at the acquisition date, are as follows:
Currency: VND million

Fair value on
acquisition date

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 57,595
Short-term loan receivables 81,000
Other receivables 110,211
Fixed assets 2,524,000
Other assets 33,521
2,806,327
Liabilities
Short-term trade payables 50,969
Statutory obligations 13,176
Short-term accrual 40,053
Deferred tax liabilities 207,871
Other payables 69,097
381,166
Total fair value of identifiable net assets 2,425,161
Non-controlling interests 182,036
Goodwill arising from business combination 1,077,557
Purchase consideration paid 3,684,754
Cash flows on business acquisition
Cash acquired with the subsidiary 57,595
Cash paid for acquiring the subsidiary up to 31 December 2024 (3,684,754)
Net cash flow on business acquisition (3,627,159)

Revenue and profit before tax of Landmark 81 Hotel JSC for the period from 1 January 2024
to the acquisition date were VND73 billion and VND4 billion, respectively. From the acquisition
date to 31 December 2024, Vinpearl Landmark 81 contributed to the revenue and the loss
before tax of the Group were VND422 billion and VND111 billion, respectively.
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4.2

SIGNIFICANT ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS DURING THE YEAR (continued)
Business combination (continued)
Transactions of Vinpearl JSC {continued)

Acquisition of Thanh Hoa Hotel Investment and Development Joint Stock Company (“Thanh
Hoa Hotel JSC”)

In February 2024, the Group acquired 99.99% voting shares in Thanh Hoa Hotel JSC from
counterparties. The total purchase consideration was VND1,611 billion. Thereby, Thanh Hoa
Hotel JSC became a subsidiary of the Group. The principal activity of Thanh Hoa Hotel JSC
is to provide short-stay services.

The consideration and the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of Thanh Hoa Hotel
JSC, which were measured at the acquisition date, are as follows:
Currency: VND million

Fair value on
acquisition date

SRS

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6,894
Other short-term receivables 46,388
Value-added tax deductible 55,280
Tangible fixed assets 777,026
Other assets 92,836
978,424
Liabilities
Long-term unearned revenues 20,126
Deferred tax liabilities 57,573
Other liabilities 19,401
97,100
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 881,324
Non-controlling interests 105,396
Goodwill arising from business combination 623,933
Purchase consideration paid 1,610,653
Cash flows on business acquisition
Cash acquired with the subsidiary 6,894
Cash paid for acquiring the subsidiary up to 31 December 2024 (1,610,653)
Net cash flow on business acquisition (1,603,759)

Revenue and loss before tax of Thanh Hoa Hotel JSC for the period from 1 January 2024 to
the acquisition date, and from the acquisition date to 31 December 2024 were insignificant.
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company B09-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

4.2

SIGNIFICANT ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS DURING THE YEAR (continued)
Business combination (continued)

Transactions of Vinpearl JSC (continued)

Acquisition of VinWonders Nha Trang Joint Stock Company (“VinWonders Nha Trang JSC”)
In February 2024, the Group acquired 99.99% voting shares in VinWonders Nha Trang JSC
from counterparties. The total purchase consideration was VND10,319 billion. Thereby,
VinWonders Nha Trang JSC became a subsidiary of the Group. The principal activity of

VinWonders Nha Trang JSC is to provide recreational parks and theme parks services .

The consideration and the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of VinWonders Nha
Trang JSC, which were measured at the acquisition date, are as follows:

Currency: VND million

Fair value on
acquisition date

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 67,960
Short-term trade receivables 105,445
Short-term advance to suppliers 53,647
Inventories 3,340,723
Value-added tax deductible 258,619
Tangible fixed assets 7,191,856
Construction in progress 780,182
Other assets 86,076
11,884,508
Liabilities
Short-term trade payables 159,108
Short-term advances from customers 54,867
Short-term loans and finance lease obligations 576,000
Short-term other payables 3,086,492
Deferred tax liabilities 1,057,491
Other liabilities 12,254
4,946,212
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 6,938,296
Non-controlling interests 488,656
Goodwill arising from business combination 2,892,377
Purchase consideration paid 10,319,329
Cash flows on business acquisition
Cash acquired with the subsidiary 67,960
Cash paid for acquiring the subsidiary up to 31 December 2024 (10,319,329)

Net cash flow on business acquisition

(10,251,369)

Revenue and profit before tax of VinWonders Nha Trang JSC for the period from 1 January
2024 to the acquisition date were VND200 billion and VND25 billion, respectively. From the
acquisition date to 31 December 2024, VinWonders Nha Trang contributed to the revenue
and the profit before tax of the Group was VND7,099 billion and VND1,436 billion,
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

4.

4.3

SIGNIFICANT ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS DURING THE YEAR (continued)
Significant disposal with loss of control of subsidiaries and other business activities

Business cooperation with Nam An Investment and Trading Joint Stock Company (“Nam An
JSC”)

In January 2024, the Group signed an agreement to amend the Business Cooperation
Contract ("BCC") signed in 2020 with Nam An JSC and Phu Quoc Tourism Development and
Investment Joint Stock Company (“Phu Quoc Tourism JSC”) regarding the management and
leasing of beach villas (“Phu Quoc Beach Villa Cooperation Component”), where Phu Quoc
Tourism JSC is the investor. Thereby, Nam An JSC has full authority to control the business
and operational policies for the Phu Quoc Beach Villa Cooperation Component. The gain
arising from the loss of control over these business activities, of VND1,920 billion, was
recognised in the consolidated income statement (Note 30.3). Accordingly, the Group no
longer has control over the beach villa management and leasing activities.

Also, in January 2024, the Group signed a Business Cooperation Agreement (“BCC") with
Nam An JSC regarding the management and leasing of beach villas (*Vinpearl Beach Vilia
Cooperation Component”), where Vinpearl JSC is the investor. Thereby, Nam An JSC has
full authority to control the business and operational policies for the Vinpearl Beach Villa
Cooperation Component. The gain arising from the loss of control over these business
activities, of VND1,223 billion, was recognised in the consolidated income statement (Note
30.3). Accordingly, the Group no longer has control over the beach villa management and
leasing activities.

Disposal of SDI Trading Development and Investment Limited Liability Company (“SDI LLC")

in March 2024, the Group transferred 55% ownership in SDI LLC, a subsidiary. The total
consideration for the transaction was VND21,492 billion. The gain from this disposal, of
VND12,372 billion, was recognised in the consolidated income statement. As of the
transaction date, SDI LLC owned 99.99% charter capital of SADO Trading Commercial Joint
Stock Company (“SADO JSC”), a major shareholder of Vincom Retail Joint Stock Company
(*Vincom Retail JSC"). After this disposal, the Group no longer held control over SDI LLC,
SADO JSC, Vincom Retail JSC, and their subsidiaries. Following these transactions, SDI LLC
and Vincom Retail JSC became associates of the Group.

In June 2024, the Group transferred additional 15.77% ownership in SD! LLC with the total
consideration of VNDG,162 billion. The gain from this disposal, of VND3,165 billion, was
recognised in the consolidated income statement.

in September 2024, the Group completed the transfer of the remaining 29.23% ownership in
SDI LLC with the total consideration of VND11,422 billion. The gain from this disposal, of
VNDS5,796 billion, was recognised in the consolidated income statement. After this
transaction, the Group lost all ownership in SDI LLC.

The gain from these transactions was presented in Note 30.3.

As at 31 December 2024, the investment in Vincom Retail JSC was presented as an
investment in associate (Note 19.1).
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company B09-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

4.3

SIGNIFICANT ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Significant disposal with loss of control of subsidiaries and other business activities
(continued)

Disposal of NVY Vietnam Development Joint Stock Company (“NVY Vietnam JSC”)

In June 2024, the Group disposed 80% voting shares in NVY Vietnam JSC, a subsidiary newly
established during the year. The total consideration of the transaction was VND9,347 billion.
The gain from this disposal, of VND7,494 billion, was recognised in the consolidated income
statement (Note 30.3). Accordingly, the Group no longer has control over NVY Vietnam JSC.
The remaining investment in NVY Vietnam JSC is presented as other investment (Note 19.2).

Disposal of VYHT Joint Stock Company (“VYHT JSC”)

In December 2024, the Group disposed 80% voting shares in VYHT JSC, a subsidiary newly
established during the year. The total consideration of the transaction was VND11,385 billion.
The gain from this disposal, of VND9,814 billion, was recognised in the consolidated income
statement (Note 30.3). Accordingly, the Group no longer has control over VYHT JSC. The
remaining investment in VYHT JSC is presented as other investment (Note 19.2).

Disposal of Lighthouse 1 Limited Liability Company (“Lighthouse 1 LLC")

In December 2024, the Group disposed 100% voting shares in Lighthouse 1 LLC, a subsidiary
newly established during the year. The total consideration of the transaction was VND2,544
billion. The gain from this disposal, of VND559 billion, was recognised in the consolidated
income statement (Note 30.3). Accordingly, the Group no longer has control over Lighthouse 1
LLC.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Currency: VND million

Ending balance Beginning balance

Cash on hand 15,780 27,636
Cash at banks 32,299,325 26,384,790
Cash in transit 17,247 116,925
Cash equivalents 10,250,014 1,453,272
TOTAL 42,582,366 27,982,623

Cash equivalents as at 31 December 2024 comprise of deposits, with terms ranging from 1
month to 3 months, earning interest ranging from 1.9% to 5.75% per annum (as at 31
December 2023: 2.1% to 4% per annum).

Cash at banks and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2024 include VND3,036 billion in
restricted-for-use accounts (as at 31 December 2023: VND354 billion).

Cash at banks and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2024 also include maintenance funds

of handed-over apartments, villas and commercial zones at real estate projects of the Group.
These maintenance funds will be transferred to the Management Boards at these projects.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

6.1

6.2

SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

Held-for-trading securities

Currency: VND million

Ending balance Beginning balance
Carrying Carrying
Cost amount Cost amount
Shares (i) 1,500,000 1,500,000 - -
Other investment (ii) 2,128,250 2,128,250 - -
TOTAL 3,628,250 3,628,250 - -

0]

(ii)

In 2024, the Group acquired 87.54% ownership of Hon Tam Nha Trang Sea Joint Stock
Company (*Hon Tam JSC”) from a counterparty. Subsequently, the Group also signed an
agreement to transfer its entire ownership in Hon Tam JSC to another counterparty. The
Group concluded that its control over Hon Tam JSC is temporary, and has recognised
the investment in Hon Tam JSC as held-for-trading securities.

In 2024, the Group signed an agreement to transfer rights and obligations under the debt
sale and purchase contract with Saigon - Hanoi Commercial Joint Stock Bank with
counterparties. Accordingly, the Group reclassified the recoverable value under the
aforementioned agreement from the held-to-maturity investment to held-for-trading
securities.

Held-to-maturity investments

Currency: VND million

Ending balance Beginning balance
Cost Carrying value Cost Carrying value
Short-term deposits (i) 5,090,634 5,090,634 2,352,924 2,352,924
Short-term bonds - - 2,277,479 2,277,479
Other investments - - 2,368,268 2,368,268
TOTAL 5,090,634 5,090,634 6,998,671 6,998,671

(i)

Balance as at 31 December 2024 mainly includes short-term deposits with terms ranging
from more than 3 months to 1 year and earning interest at the rates ranging from 2.5% to
7.2% per annum (as at 31 December 2023: from 3.2% to 8% per annum).

Short-term deposits as at 31 December 2024 include maintenance funds of handed-over
apartments, villas and commercial zones at real estate projects of the Group. These
maintenance funds will be transferred to the Management Boards of these projects.

As of 31 December 2024, certain term deposits totalling VND1,483 billion are being
pledged to issue standby letters of credit to secure the Group’s borrowings.
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

7.1

7.2

TRADE RECEIVABLES AND ADVANCES TO SUPPLIERS

Trade receivables

Short-term

Receivables from sale of inventory properties
Receivables from manufacturing activities and
related activities

Receivables from real estate brokerage services
and related services

Receivables from construction activities and
related services

Receivables from leasing activities and rendering
related services

Receivables from rendering hotel services,
amusement park services and related services
Receivables from rendering hospital services and
related services

Receivables from transfer of shares and capital
contribution

Receivables from related parties on the disposal of
assets

Others

TOTAL

In which:
Receivables from related parties (Note 37.2)
Receivables from other parties

Long-term

Receivables from finance lease contracts relating
to electric vehicle batteries and related services
Receivables from leasing activities related to
investment properties

TOTAL

Provision for doubtful debts

Short-term advances to suppliers

Advance to suppliers
- A corporate counterparty (*)
- Other suppliers

TOTAL

Provision for doubtful advance to suppliers

BO9-DN/HN

Currency: VND million

Ending balance Beginning balance

13,451,812 14,075,813
9,346,581 3,056,032
1,820,030 90,622
1,836,591 1,365,582

590,546 1,052,197
362,919 292,285
353,562 404,096
167,442 4,347,818

- 1,642,446
1,051,433 1,146,607

29,080,916 27,473,498
4,229,083 5,088,408

24,851,833 22,385,090
1,631,637 731,430

- 250,462
1,631,637 981,892
(251,512) (564,099)

Currency: VND million

Ending balance Beginning balance

8,193,273 10,758,202
32,743,940 26,632,077
40,937,213 37,390,279

(174,679) (262,510)

(*) Thisis the advance to a corporate counterparty for the purpose of ground filling for certain

real estate projects of the Group.
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

8. LOAN RECEIVABLES

8.1 Short-term loan receivables

Loans to individuals (i)

Current portion of long-term loans to corporate
counterparties (ii)

Loans to corporate counterparties (iii)

TOTAL

in which:
Loans to related parties (Note 37.3)
Loans to other counterparties

Provision for doubtful short-term loan receivables

BO9-DN/HN

Currency: VND million

Ending balance Beginning balance

1,050,145 568,300
249 850 4,063,713
178,530 3,005,637

1,478,525 7,637,650

- 13,444

1,478,525 7,624,206

(60,000) (70,000)

(iy Balance at 31 December 2024 includes loan receivables, which mature in 2025, earning
interest at the rates ranging from 7.5% to 12% per annum.

(i) Balance at 31 December 2024 includes loan receivables, which mature in 2025, earning

interest at 12% per annum,

(iiiy Balance at 31 December 2024 mainly includes loan receivables, which mature in 2025,
earning interest at the rates ranging from 7% to 12% per annum.

8.2 Long-term loan receivables

Loans to corporate counterparties (i)
Loans to individuals

TOTAL

In which:
Loans to related parties (Note 37.3)
Loans to other counterparties

Currency: VND million

Ending balance Beginning balance

23,327,070 1,147,876
32,057 -
23,359,127 1,147,876
- 9,100
23,359,127 1,138,776

(i) Balance at 31 December 2024 includes the loans, maturing in 2026, earning interest at

the rates ranging from 11% to 12% per annum.
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

9.

OTHER RECEIVABLES

Short-term

Advances for land clearance (i)

Advances under Investment and Business
Co-operation contracts (ii)

Receivables from Build-Transfer contracts (iii)
Receivables from termination of deposit
contracts (iv)

Interest receivables from bank deposits,
deposits, lending to others and interest from
other contracts

Guarantee deposits for project development
and contract implementation (v)
Receivables from transfer of debt trading
contract

Receivables from payment on behalf
Others

TOTAL

In which:
Other short-term receivables from related
parties (Note 37.2)
Other short-term receivables from other
parties

Long-term

Advances for land clearance (i)

Capital contribution for Investment Cooperation
contracts (vi)

Guarantee deposits for project development
and contract implementation (vii)

Others

TOTAL

In which:
Other long-term receivables from related
parties (Note 37.2)
Other long-term receivables from other
parties

Provision for doubtful debts

BO9-DN/HN

Currency: VND million

Ending balance

Beginning balance

65,780,534 39,582,598
27,033,653 36,498,402
10,079,466 10,081,702
6,275,000 75,000
3,425,090 3,448,139
2,138,246 858,745
821,600 821,600
773,746 3,662,294
2,927,925 1,720,330
119,255,260 96,748,810
672,617 95,5659
118,582,643 96,653,251
48,000,000 -
6,778,912 -
1,551,698 5,017,022
1,242,874 1,090,692
57,573,484 6,107,714
6,791,672 -
50,781,812 6,107,714
{219,158) (238,897)

() These are advances to certain individuals for the purpose of land clearance of certain
potential real estate projects. Collaterals for these advances are shares of a subsidiary
owned by under common control entities with the Group (Note 37.1), shares of a

subsidiary and shares of other company owned by other counterparties.

(i) These are advances to counterparties under Investment and Business Co-operation
contracts where the counterparties are entitled to the sharing of profits as agreed in the
contracts between the Group and these counterparties. The capital contribution received
from these counterparties is presented as other payables (Note 25). These advances
include advances of profit according to investment and business co-operation contracts
and advances in excess of the distributable profit, in which the advances in excess of the

distributable profit earn interest at 12% per annum.
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company B09-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

10.

OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(i) This is the receivables from the completion and hand-over of certain construction projects
to the State agencies under the Build-Transfer contracts.

(iv) This is the receivables from terminating deposit contracts related to share transfer and
real estate transfer.

(v) Balance as at 31 December 2024 mainly includes the deposit to a supplier to purchase
materials for production purpose.

(vi) Balance as at 31 December 2024 mainly includes capital contributions under Investment
Cooperation contracts with related parties for the operation and transfer of shopping mall
components.

(vii) Balance as at 31 December 2024 mainly includes deposits with banks for contract
implementation guarantee.

BAD DEBTS

Bad debts of the Group mainly include overdue trade receivables, advances to suppliers, loan
receivables and interest receivables:

Currency: VND million

Ending balance Beginning balance
Recoverable Recoverable
Cost amount Cost amount
Overdue receivables 850,675 205,326 1,703,916 638,410
Overdue loan receivables 60,000 - 70,000 -
TOTAL 910,675 205,326 1,773,916 638,410
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company B09-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

11. INVENTORIES

Currency: VND million

Ending balance Beginning balance
Cost Provision Cost Provision
Completed inventory
properties 11,413,938 (63,427) 2,146,802 (63,427)
Inventory properties
under construction 72,896,791 - 59,956,906 -
Work in progress for
construction activities 1,781,541 - 1,071,214 -
Raw materials 18,753,857 (6,473,631) 19,433,943  (4,673,742)
Completed inventories for
manufacturing activities 14,085,266 (4,815,296) 11,622,357  (3,335,002)
Work in progress for
manufacturing activities 4,372,141 (1,169,516) 4,254 679 (901,736)
Goods in transit 2,469,926 (404,107) 2,652,060 (326,018)
Others 1,294,999 (52,299) 1,002,928 (117,218)
TOTAL 127,068,459 (12,978,276) 102,040,889  (9,417,143)

As at 31 December 2024, inventories with the carrying amount of:
» VND18,661 billion is pledged with banks to secure loans of the Group; and

» VND684 billion is pledged with banks to secure loan of a counterparty, which participated
in capital contribution under investment and business co-operation contracts of a project
of the Group

Detailed movements of provision for obsolete inventories:
Currency: VND million

Current year  Previous year

Beginning balance 9,417,143 5,436,547
Add: Provision made during the year 9,069,221 7,146,803
Less: Utilisation/reversal of provision during the year (5,508,088) (3,166,207)
Ending balance 12,978,276 9,41 7,143
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company B09-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

12 PREPAID EXPENSES
Currency: VND million

Ending balance Beginning balance

Short-term

Selling expenses related to inventory properties not

yet handed-over 3,304,264 1,315,267
Prepaid expenses related to foans and bonds 332,343 190,172
Others 955,792 813,861
TOTAL 4,592,399 2,319,300
Long-term

Prepaid land rental 4,713,050 2,968,001
Tools and supplies 1,893,482 1,661,259
Priority fee for future purchases of materials 565,051 -
Prepaid expenses related to bonds 513,423 589,649
Major repair expenses 253,403 414,814
Others 602,984 561,393
TOTAL 8,641,393 6,195,116

13. OTHER ASSETS

Currency: VND million
Ending balance Beginning balance

Short-term

Deposits for investment purpose (i) 25,919,848 36,094,273
Other 17,513 -
TOTAL 25,937,361 36,094,273
Long-term

Deposits for investment purpose (ii) 4,150,672 706,472
Deposits for other business purpose (iii) 1,032,337 1,032,337
Other 330,000 -
Deposits with related parties (Note 37.2) 61,666 128,325
TOTAL 5,574,675 1,867,134

(i) Balance as at 31 December 2024 mainly includes:

» Deposit of VND12,000 billion to a counterparty as performance guarantee for a co-
operation and investment contract in relation to a real estate project. This deposit is
secured by shares of a subsidiary held by a related party under common control with
the Group (Note 37.1); and

» Deposit of VND13,383 billion to counterparties for the purpose of acquiring shares of
companies that own real estate projects.

(i) Balance as at 31 December 2024 mainly includes:
» Deposit of VND3,508 billion to counterparties for the purpose of shares transfer; and

» Deposit of VND497 billion as performance guarantee for a purchase agreement of an
asset in a real estate project.

(iii) Balance as at 31 December 2024 is a deposit to a counterparty for the purchase of goods
in the future.
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

16.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Cost:

Beginning balance

Newly constructed (Note 18)
Sold, disposed

Decrease due to loss of control
of subsidiaries

Transfer to inventories

Others

Ending balance

In which:
Fully depreciated

Accumulated depreciation:
Beginning balance
Depreciation for the year

Sold, disposed

Decrease due to loss of control
of subsidiaries

Others

Ending balance

Net carrying amount:
Beginning balance

Ending balance

Land use rights,

B0O9-DN/HN

Currency: VND million

buildings, and Machinery and
Structures equipment Total
41,592,581 7,511,600 49,104,181
4,208,625 464,674 4,673,299
(1,830,732) - (1,830,732)
(27,704,781) (6,349,677) (34,054,458)
(1,674,2086) - {1,674,206)
(377,783) 164,995 (212,788)
14,213,704 1,791,592 16,005,296
611 231,334 231,945
7,402,704 4,163,153 11,565,857
633,424 147,228 780,652
(90,327) - (90,327)
(6,203,134) (3,069,979) (9,273,113)
(60,290) 49,099 {11,191)
1,682,377 1,289,501 2,971,878
34,189,877 3,348,447 37,538,324
12,531,327 502,091 13,033,418

As at 31 December 2024, investment properties with carrying amount of VND2,315 billion is

pledged with banks to secure loans and bonds of the Group.

Investment properties of the Group mainly include offices and land and infrastructure in
industrial parks for lease and related services. As at 31 December 2024, the Group has not
been able to obtain sufficient, necessary information for the purpose of determining the fair

value of these investment properties.

Revenue and expenses relating to investment properties are presented in Note 30.2.
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company

B09-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

17.

18.

CAPITALISED BORROWING COSTS

During the year, the Group capitalised borrowing costs with an amount of VND3,026 billion
(for the year ended 31 December 2023: VND3,166 billion). These costs relate to specific and
general borrowings obtained to finance the real estate and manufacturing projects of the
Group.

The capitalised borrowing costs in relation to the general borrowings are determined by
applying a capitalisation rate of 11.90% per annum (for the year ended 31 December 2023:
10.04% per annum) on the accumulated weighted average expenditures of the real estate
and manufacturing projects. The capitalisation rate used is the weighted average of the
borrowing rates applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding during the

year.

CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS

Currency: VND million

Current year Previous year
Beginning balance 93,511,565 105,708,010
Acquisition of subsidiaries 2,189,462 1,298,460
Increase during the year 58,355,865 52,704,415
Transferred to tangible fixed assets (Note 14) (19,266,360) (39,729,971)
Transferred to intangible fixed assets (Note 15) (12,550,815) (18,239,521)
Transferred to investment properties (Note 16) (4,673,299) (962,110)
Transferred to inventories (1,303,321) (5,331,089)
Decrease due to disposal of subsidiaries (1,029,420) (94,249)
Others (1,875,648) (1,842,380)

113,358,029 93,511,565

Ending balance

Details for each item of which balance is higher than 10% of total balance:

Currency: VND million

Projects Ending balance Beginning balance
International University Urban Area project 19,280,591 17,680,050
Investment projects for the construction and product

development related to electric vehicles 14,788,097 16,573,247
Vinhomes Long Beach Can Gio project 13,859,363 13,524,526

Construction in progress includes freehold and leasehold rights for land, construction costs,
land development rights, borrowing costs, consulting and design costs, costs of ground filling
and land clearance, construction overheads costs, costs relating to developing and investing
to manufacturing activities and other related costs.

As at 31 December 2024, construction in progress with the carrying amount of:

» VND?7,486 billion is pledged with banks to secure loans of the Group; and

» VND3,555 billion is pledged with bank to secure loans of counterparties, which deposited
to acquire the project of the Group

53

T

e v

~



seipadoud ajeyss |eal Buipelj

s19)nNdwiod 0} pale|al S8dIAIes Jayjo pue
saoes Abojouyoal uoieutiojul Buipinoid
s1ejndwiod 0} paje|al Sa0IAISS 18I0 pue
sao1n8s ABojouyoa) uoneuLIojul Buipinoid

Bunuid
ABojouyosy pue Bunasuibus
uo juswdolansp |eluswiiadxe pue Yyoseasay

Buipsaig speD
Buiy
sIojeInwiNaoE pue saus)ieq buonpold

sa|uadoid aje}sae |eal Buises) pue seiuadosd
sje)sa jeas Buipel; pue Buidojenap ‘Buisaau)

SONIAROR [BdIOULIH

NH/NQ-604d

14

‘(8¢ 8joN) dnoig) sy} Jo Aeipisgns e sem Auedwod siy) '£z0z Jequedsd Leie sy ()

‘saljus 8sau} Ul dnolo sy 4o diysiaumo ayj osje sijybu Bunoa syl ()

(.osr

8.8y - 8.8t - Y4UuIA,) Auedwio »o018 juiop ,NECS

W8P

v. 6t - v/ 6Y - ureiguip,) Auedwod 30031 JUIoF ulelguiA

(,OSr weoliAy,)

€161 N €L6Y £L°6V Auedwo) %00} jJulof WedlAy

(.osr Bunuid Moog weusip,) Auedwion

9/°12 9,'12 €181 €181 %00)S Julor Bunuig syoog weusia

(.o8r fioyssuen),)

Ze0¢g LY Z£'0¢€ ALY Auedwo) 30018 juior Aiojsausn

(.OSr spsaig loueH,)

S WA €9°/¢€ €9°LE €9°/¢ Auedwiod %0018 juiof spaalg loueH

(.01 nyd Buony,)

Auedwon Ajjiger paywi Buisseooid

00°0v 00°0v 80°22 9z'6l pue Bugiojdx3 suois [einjeN nyd Buong

(.P¥1 Yoo 1-ubiH 9-A,)

00’6 006t 6692 08't2 P11 00 suonnjos Abisug yosj-ubiH o-A

(n) z8'8lL (xn) Z8'81 OSI [lejoy WOoouIA
aoueleq souejeq souejeq souejeq

Buiuuibag Buipuz BujuuiBeg  Buipuz
() (%) ybu bunop (%) 1seuoyul Ajinbzy awenN

81muaA jujof pue sajejo0SSe Ul SJUBLUISBAU]  L'6)

SLNINLSIANI WHAL1-ONOT 61

papua uay} Jeak sy} 10} pue $zoz 1equwiaded L¢ Je se

(penuiuo9) SINIFWILY.LS WVIONVYNIA A3LVYAITOSNOD IHL OL STLON

Auedwo) 30033 juior dnoaBuip



N i = 15
KRR N ol \1/~ V74

)

'SJUBWIISBAUI 8S8Y) JO NnjeA 1ie) Y} ulLLIS)ap 0} UoHEWIojUI Alessaosu Ule)qo 0} ajge usaq jou sey dnoig ayy (1)

o9r.LZZ'6 (182) (sLe‘882'8) gL.'8y8 p8Y'ZL6'SL  680°'6E5°L 1oL
- - (809°L€) - - 809°'LE O8I V4UIA
- - (880°¢8) (667'ch) - 186921 DSI UleIquip
- - (£29'c29'8) cLL'zop 015'122'8 - 2111as
0] zee'e - - (909) - 828'C DS WedlAly
0] 0Lz's (182) - - - L6¥'S OSr Bunuud oog weujein
0 1E1'9E - - (062'02) 1£6'9¢ 966'61 osr Aoyssusg
® SIS AVA 4 - - - - 9eT' Ly OSr spas.g loueH
0 GGL'/8 - - (zZsL) - 10€'/8 0771 nyd Buony
0 £00'99} '} - - (££0'29) - 9£0'81LC'L P17 Yoa 1 -ybiH ©-A
rLE'GEE'L €8/'118'L - - ovL'€9s EP0'vLE L - OSI llejoy WOodUIA
p20Z 1equiade(g aoueleq spusping jesodsig ainjusA juiof Aieipisqns aoueleq auien
LE Je se anjea Jje4  Buipuz pue sajeloosse wouj ssysuel)  Buluuibeg
wolj (ssoppoid  puswiseaul
J0 aueys euonippy

uolliw gNA Aousling
:MO[aq pa)s]| ale ainjuaA jujof pue SajeIc0sse asay) Ul JUSWISBAU JO S|iejaq
(peNURUOD) BJNJUBA JUIOf puR SBJBIJOSSE U] SJUBLUISOAU]  L'6L

(Penunuoo) SINIWLSIANI NNIL-ONOT 61

pepus uay) ieah oy} 10} pue o7 Jequisdag L Je se
(panuRuod) SINIWILVYLS TVIONVNIZ G3LVYAITOSNOD IHL OL SILON

NH/NG-609 Auedwo) 30035 juior dnolBuip



"SJUBLLISBAUL 8SBY} JO BN[EA JIB) 8U) SuiLLIs}ep 0} Uolewlojul Alessadau uleyqo o) ojge usaq jou sey dnoig ayy  (,)

(vre'oze) o09v'zes'cl (622'886°4) Lz¥'88e’6l V10l
) (659'681) 66¥'825 () (9/6'961)  /20'€0S - - Sle)
() - LYE' LY 00'L 00t () - - - - 0712007 Buonyj,
(w) - 61G'/65 £6'L £6°/ ) - - - - 077380 eud
() - 000'661 0004 0001 () - 000661 0001 000l (.OSf 8 imeN,) Osr
m:_vm‘_._. SOJIAIRG JUsWUiBUBUg Sl TMBN
() - 9/0'2¥¢ - 00'LS () - 9/0'2¥¢ - 00'LS (.01 007 1eYd,) 0711 Buipel |,
jusuisaaul jerolswiwio) 207 1eyd
() - 129'c9¢ 0001 000l () - 129'c0¢ 00°01L 00°0L OSr Buipel| sjejs3 [eey WEUISIA UIN-S
) - 2.0'128 296 296 () - 210128 296 296 077 uew)senuy
chEQo_m>®D ueqin pead m:oO USIA
() - 8G6'71L9 zZ8'6L 2861 () - 856719 Z8'61 Z9'61 Auedwog o018
juiop Buipel) e1ejs3 eay WeN IBIA AW
() - 89¢'/62 08t 08y () (086'c98)  000'006 00'g 006 ) (.osr nso,) Auedwon
00}S JUIOr AIIGOIN HewS pue ussig)
() - 89Z'/€6 GL'E GL'E () - 992'2¢6 N Gl'E ‘P11 10Qe10IS
() - 000'¥0Z'L 622 622 () - 065'292'L 6272 622 ‘11 sbuipjoH wnibojoid
() (659'0P9) 09L'¥G8L - - () (zog'298)  eee'oe8’'L - - (1) yoenuoD WsWISaAU]
() - 86c'216'L - - () (Log'0ol)  op9oloz - - (.s8j0U-d,) SBj0N AlossIwoid
() - 06.'718'V €L6L €6 () - PEP'LB0'C €461 €461 Auedwo %0033 juior
Buipel] ajejs] [eey wewsin ZAIN
() - - - - () - 6..'928'C  16'6L L6'61 DS WeN 18IA AAN
() - $2e'€65'C €961 €861 () - yZe'e65'c €861 £8'61 Auedwiod Apiger] peywin
Buipes] sjejsy [esy WeN 1BIA LA
) - - - - () - Gpe'oes's  £6'61 £6'61 JSr 1HAA
(uoiw  (uogjiu (uolpu (%) (%) (uoyyw  (uolpw (uojnu (%) (%)
ann) anNA) ann) WBu diysiaumQ  anNAa) ann) anNA) WyBu alysieumQ
anjea UOISINGIA 180D mt.ao\, 8njeA Jje UOISIAOLL JS0D mt.to\/
d1e
souejeq buiuuibag aoueleq buipuz
s8l}jjus J9ylo uj JususaAUl  Z'6L
(penuiuod) SINIWLSIANI WNIL-ONO1 6L
papua usy} jeak sy} 1o} pue $zZOZ Joquisoa(] Lg le se
(panupuod) SINIWILYLS TVIONVYNIH AILVYAITOSNOD IHL OL SILON
NH/NQ-609 Auedwo) 30033 juiopr dnolBuip



P

fee

A

aoue|eq buipug

Piv'LLS'Y 819'60¢ 16V'11S 666'086 00¢'649'2
52926V 52926V - - - soueleq Buuuibeg
;Junowe BujAuges joN
009ZYY'Y 625'950'% 9EV'zS 85506 LLO'EVT souejeq Buipus
(91¥'05¢) (9L¥'0g¢) - - - Selelpisqns
J0 [esodsip 0} enp eseaiseq
008'¢es 62L'.EL 9ev'2s 86506 110'e¥e Jeal ay) 10} uoneSIHOWY
012'692'¥ 912'692'y - - - sauejeq Buuuibeg
1UONBSIMIOWE PaleIMUNIDY
$10'096'Q L¥1'99E'y £€6'€29 166'220' 11£'268°2 aouejeq Buipuz
(¥69'G6¢€) (¥69'G6E) - - - seuelpisqns
1O [esodsip 0} enp asessdsq
198'¢6S'y - ££6'€29 166'220') L1£'268'C uojeuiquios
$saUISNg Wol Buisy
Lp8'L9L'y Lp8'Lol'y - - - souejeq Bujuuibeg
11509
[ejol Si8y)O OSr juswdojsreg O8r juswdojsreqg aosr
puB JUBWISBAUJ pUB JUBWISSAUY Buel) eyN SISPUOAMUIA
[8]0H BOH yuey | [8J0H L8 MieuwipueT]

uolpw gNA -Aoualdind

TIMA009 ‘0C

"OSTI INSD 03 uollig ZO9ANA [euohippe painquiuoo dnoig eyl ‘vzoz ui (1)

‘saiped

uloq Aq peaibe soud ay; yum dnoio syj Jo Aieipisgns € Jo saleys Aleuipio A8l 0} B 8y} sey dnolo) sy} pue ‘'gzoz JSqUISAON Ul ainjew
1M JOBLUOD SIY L "UOIIIIG #S8'LANA JO 8N[BA [BUOHOU U} YlIM YUBq UBISIO) B UlIM JOBUOD JUSWISAUL ) Ojul passjus dnols) sy} ‘£z0z 49qo0 ul (1)

NH/NQ-60d

(ponunuoo) safaue Joy30 Uy JUBLURSAAU]  Z'6L

(penujuod) SINIWLSIANI WHAL-ONOT ‘61

papus uay} Jeak ay) 1o} pue yZoz Jaqueds( LE je se

(Penunuod) SINIFWILYLS TVIONVYNIZ A3LYAITOSNOD 3HL O1 SLON

Auedwo) 30033 1o dnolBuip



Vingroup Joint Stock Company B09-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

21.

21.1

21.2

TRADE PAYABLES AND ADVANCES FROM CUSTOMERS
Short-term trade payables

Currency: VND million

Balance (also amount payables)

Ending balance Beginning balance

Trade payables to suppliers 45,035,056 34,874,264
- A corporate counterparty (*) 8,233,881 5,380,440
- Payables to related parties (Note 37.2) 561,366 -
- Others 36,239,809 29,493,824
TOTAL 45,035,056 34,874,264

(*) These are payables to a corporate counterparty for entrusted import and domestic goods
purchasing contracts, with the balance due subject to late payment interest adjusted
quarterly as mutually agreed (as at 31 December 2024: 11% per annum for domestic
purchases and imports).

Short-term advances from customers

Currency: VND million

Ending balance Beginning balance

Advance from sale of inventory properties (i) 126,438,032 31,908,225
Advance from construction activities (ii) 8,984,860 9,459,780
Advance from purchase of cars 1,510,548 1,211,002
Advance from transfer of shares - 1,729,000
Others 1,441,450 1,447,692
TOTAL 138,374,890 45,755,699
in which:

Advance from a counterparty 4,738,694 4,726,354

Advance from related parties (Note 37.2) 9,596 1,813,719

Advance from other parties 133,626,600 39,215,626

(i) Including down-payments from customers under sale and purchase agreements for real
estate properties of the Group.

(i) Including advances received under general contractor contracts and Build-Transfer
contracts.
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company B09-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

22, STATUTORY OBLIGATIONS AND RECEIVABLES FROM THE STATE

Currency: VND million

Payables/offset
/other
Beginning  movement for Payment made Ending
balance the year during the year balance

Payables
Value added tax 2,604,809 15,391,735 (5,709,805) 12,286,739
Special consumption tax 163,657 1,333,157 (853,556) 643,258
Corporate income tax 14,249,166 11,407,382 (11,832,667) 13,823,881
Personal income tax 790,586 3,166,453 (2,970,353) 986,686
Land use fee, land rental
fee and obligations under
build-transfer contracts 30,952 32,208,557 (28,797,365) 3,442,144
Others 1,558,513 6,015,465 (5,999,028) 1,574,950
TOTAL 19,397,683 69,522,749 (56,162,774) 32,757,658

Beginning Receivables for Offset in the Ending

balance the year year balance

Receivables
Corporate income tax 273,363 12,390 (2,967) 282,786
Others 18,973 11,444 (607) 29,810
TOTAL 292,336 23,834 (3,574) 312,596
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

23.

ACCRUED EXPENSES

Short-term

Accrued construction of real estate properties,
other assets and development costs of handed-
over real estate properties

Accrued selling expenses (i)

Accrued interest from borrowings and deposits
received under cooperation contracts

Accrued committed profit under villas and condotels
management program

Others
TOTAL

In which:
Accruals fo related parties (Note 37.2)
Accruals to other counterparties

Long-term
Accrued interest expenses
Others

TOTAL

In which:
Accruals to related parties (Note 37.2)
Accruals to other counterparties

BO9-DN/HN

Currency: VND million

Ending balance Beginning balance

42,613,023 37,400,049
11,528,233 6,017,651
3,337,283 4,180,882
- 1,715,695
4,101,542 2,861,612
61,580,081 52,175,889
280,667 -
61,299,414 52,175,889
308,780 451,004
339,477 128,182
648,257 579,186
55,318 -
592,939 579,186

(i) As at 31 December 2024, accrued selling expenses include accrued expenses
related to free-charging program for customers purchasing electric vehicles (“EV
customers”). The accrued expense of VND522 billion will be paid to V-Green
Global Charging Station Development JSC (“V-Green JSC"), a related party,
providing charging station services to EV customers.
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

24.

DEFERRED REVENUE

Short-term

Unearned revenue from education services
Unearned revenue from apartments and villas
management services

Unearned revenue from extended warranty, battery
leasing and other related services

Unearned revenue from villas and condotels leasing
management services

Unearned revenue from other services

TOTAL

Long-term

Unearned revenue from extended warranty,
battery leasing and other related services
Unearned revenue from rendering of general
contractor service contracts

Unearned revenue from hotel and entertainment
services

Unearned revenue from apartments and villas
management services

Unearned revenue from villas and condotels
leasing management services

Unearned revenue from other services

TOTAL

617

B09-DN/HN

Currency: VND miilion

Ending balance Beginning balance

2,945,587 2,611,973
344,479 508,312
155,995 169,727

- 808,621
884,429 116,008

4,330,490 4,214,641

2,657,327 1,564,775
490,199 -
411,341 403,518
288,431 560,176

- 1,263,492
520,982 306,993
4,368,280 4,088,954




Vingroup Joint Stock Company

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

25.

OTHER PAYABLES

Short-term

Payables under deposit and other agreements
relating to real estate projects (i)

Deposits and capital contribution received under
Investment and Business Cooperation contracts
and other agreements (ii)

Other payables related to investment and business
co-operation contracts

Deposits for investment purpose

Apartment maintenance funds (iii)

Payables related to Letters of Credit (iv)

Others

TOTAL

In which:
Short-term other payables fo related parties
(Note 37.2)
Short-term other payables to other
counterparties

Long-term

Deposits and capital contribution received under
Investment and Business Cooperation contracts (v)
Payables under deposit and other agreements
relating to real estate projects (i)

Deposits for investment purpose

Others (vi)

TOTAL

In which:
Long-term other payables to related parties
(Note 37.2)
Long-term other payables to other
counterparties

62

BO9-DN/HN

Currency: VND million

Ending balance Beginning balance

54,824,921 41,014,274
40,946,478 55,968,346
8,550,238 1,683,350
2,759,924 10,890,737
1,917,642 1,827,032

- 5,831,960

10,604,431 5,567,442
119,603,634 122,783,141
5,701,880 72,654
113,901,754 122,710,487
22,554,540 -
3,052,651 4,620,000
754,133 519,233
2,048,746 2,185,182
28,410,070 7,324,415
21,115,799 -
7,294,271 7,324,415
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company B09-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

25,

OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

(@

(i)

(iif)

Balance as at 31 December 2024 includes amounts received from customers and other
corporate counterparties under deposit and other agreements relating to real estate
projects.

Balance as at 31 December 2024 includes deposits, capital contribution from certain
counterparties under the Business and Investment Cooperation contracts and other
agreements relating to real estate projects.

Balance pertains to maintenance funds held on behalf of customers of real estate projects
of the Group for area that has been handed over to customers and area that has been
kept, not yet sold or leased, which will be handed over to Building Management Boards.
The Group is maintaining these funds in cash equivalents and held-to-maturity
investments.

(iv) As at 1 July 20024, the Group reclassified UPAS LC balances from “Short-term other

v)

payables” to “Short-term loans and finance leases obligation” (Note 3.7)

Balance as at 31 December 2024 mainly includes the deposits from related parties under
the Investment Cooperation contracts for the operation and the transfer of shopping mall
components.

(vi) Balance as at 31 December 2024 mainly includes government grants received by a

subsidiary. This grant could be refundable if certain conditions are not met according to
the agreement with the local government.
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company B09-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

26.

26.4

LOANS AND FINANCE LEASE OBLIGATIONS (continued)
Current portion of exchangeable bonds

Exchangeable bonds amounting to USD425 million ("Exchangeable bonds No. 3”) were
issued in September 2021 with a term of 5 years. These bonds are unsecured, bear interest
at a fixed rate of 3.25% per annum and the bondholders have the right to exchange into
ordinary shares of the Company at the exchange price specified in the relevant bond
documents at any time after the issuance date. In September 2024, the bonds were fully
redeemed.

The principal balance of these bonds as at 31 December 2024 are as follows:

Currency: USD

Movement during the year

New Exchanged Ending
Beginning balance  issuance  to shares  Redemption balance
Exchangeable
bonds No. 3 425,000,000 - - (425,000,000) -
Currency: VND million
Current year Previous year
Initial recognition of exchangeable bonds 9,501,445 9,501,445
Equity component - -
Liability component at initial recognition 9,501,445 9,501,445
Add: Accumulated amortisation of bond issuance
cost and obligations relating to the
bondholders’ right to exercise put option
Beginning balance 348,112 56,419
Increase during the year 193,392 291,693
Ending balance 541,504 348,112
Add: Unrealised foreign exchange loss arising
from revaluation 678,802 602,356
Less: Redemption (10,721,751) -
Liability component at the end of the year - 10,451,913
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company BO9-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

27.

EXCHANGEABLE BONDS

Exchangeable bonds amounting to USD150 million (“Exchangeable bonds No. 4") were
issued in August 2024 with a term of 5 years. These bonds are unsecured, interest at a fixed
rate of 9.5% per annum and the bondholders have the right to exchange into ordinary shares
of the Company at the exchange price specified in the relevant bond documents at any time
after the issuance date. From August 2027, bondholders have the rights to request the Issuer
to redeem such bonds at the redemption price as stipulated in relevant bond documents.

Management assesses that there is no equity component in these exchangeable bonds and
as a result, has recognised the entire exchangeable bonds as liability.

The principal balance of these bonds as at 31 December 2024 are as follows:

Currency: USD
Movement during the year

Beginning New Exchanged

balance issuance fo shares  Redemption Ending balance

Exchangeable
bonds No. 4 - 150,000,000 - - 150,000,000
Currency: VND million
Current year Previous year
Initial recognition of exchangeable bonds 3,631,150 -
Equity component - -
Liability component at initial recognition 3,631,150 -

Add: Accumulated amortisation of bond issuance cost
Beginning balance

Increase during the year 9,024 -

Ending balance 9,024 -
Add: Unrealised foreign exchange loss arising from

revaluation 48,824 -
Liability component at the end of the year 3,688,998 -
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

28. PROVISIONS

BO9-DN/HN

Currency: VND million

Ending balance  Beginning balance
Short-term
Warranty provision 2,849,979 1,132,207
Provision for contract compensation (i) 1,853,326 1,533,822
Provision for onerous contracts (ii) 441,621 1,199,269
Others 1,200,314 217,820
TOTAL 6,345,240 4,083,118
Long-term
Warranty provision 4,620,940 2,762,669
Provision for onerous contracts (ii) 3,560,536 5,159,985
Others ’ 880,670 -
TOTAL 9,062,146 7,922,654

(i) Balance as at 31 December 2024 mainly includes provisions for compensation to
suppliers due to shortfall in purchase volume and other provisions arising from the
termination of contracts related to cessation of certain EVs and E-scooter and battery
production project. As at the date of these consolidated financial statements, the Group
is under the process of negotiation with these suppliers to finalise the compensation.

(i) Balance as at 31 December 2024 mainly includes provisions for onerous contracts related
to battery lease contracts with customers who purchased EVs and E-scooters under
preferential sale programs and sales and purchase contracts with the suppliers.

75

L[S

ot
<

.

S e

o
FUeety
LR ‘-\



9.

989°1z2'svl Z89'08v'vS  £69'SOL‘VL  Sv8'l6 (961'601)  (cZL'vve'l) €10'120'2Z 618'c8L'0v  ££8'82'8E @auejeq Buipug
826'60¢2 gvt'66 (cov'9) 000'0L £¥6'901 - - - - s19Yl0 -
(056'09) - (066'09) - - - - - - pied spusping -

Lo'ors'olr  Lig'ovL'ol - - - - - - sjsalajul Buljosuod

-uou Aq uonnquiuod jepden -

- - (Loz'ees's) - - - 102688 - - Jyoud xej-1eye painquisipun pue
wmwaid aseys woy asealou) -
(gzz'8Le) (859'0v9'L)  989'88L'L - - - - ovL'ee) - 104JU02 JO sS0}

noyym sapelpisqns Buiisixe

ul 3sale)ut Aiinba jo abueyn -
(Lyp'8s1) (00s'084) €50'22 - - - - - - saleipisqns
Jo uopnjossip pue jesodsi( -
Jeah ay) 1o} (ssop)ayoid 18N -

190'960'2 (¥98'001) gze'osLt'e - - - - . .
) 092'.L6 jendeo ul esealou] -

092'L6 - - - - - -
BPY'GGO'SElL  GbO'ZOS'GT  £YO'OPE'VL SR8 (6g1'812) (€ZL'pve'L) Z/8'L8Y'SL  €£1'050°0F  £15'889'8E soueleq Buiuuibeg
4eaf snojreid
jejot sjsatopu sbujuies Ajnba saousisyip saieys jendeo wnjuwaid Jendes
Buyjonuoo  panquisipun Sisumo sjes Ainseaiy SI18UMO aieys a1Bys panss|
~UoN 0} Buibuojeq sbueyoxg 18410
spuny 8yi0

uolflitt gNA Aousuny
Aynba sisumo uj asealosp pue aseauoul L'62

ALINDI SHUINMO 62

papus uayj Jesk sy} Joj pue z(z Jequiadaq ¢ Je se
(panuRuod) SINIWILVYLS TVIONVNIL d3aLvarmosSNOO 3HL OL S3LON

NH/NG-604 Auedwo) %0013 julop dnosBuip



44

‘saspdisius [e100s 1oj suonenbal ayl yim
SOUBPIOJDE Ul SISUMO BU) 0} pangiisip ale sjjold ou ‘AiBuipioooe pue ‘wsisAs uoneonps ay) Buidojeasp pue BuipesBbdn jo asodind sy oy syyoid
BunsaAutal 0) SHUWOD DS [OOYISUIA “DSI 100YISUIA Woy sBujuies paynquisipun uolliq Z#6'LANA Sepnjoul 20z Jequieda( L Je SE aoue|eq ay | ()

LBP'PER'ESE  Lv9'lE¥'9L  0Se'edv'vy  SvBL0L (1z9'sez)  (ezi'vpbe'l) 0£5'90£'sh 0Z0'80S0P €£8°'G8.'8E
(6v/'LE€) (18L%12) (e£6'0) 0000} (gzv'ozl) - - - -
(881'999) (822'509) (056'09) - - - - - -
€01L'69€'8L  200'.8.'S 096'Lvv'eL - - - - WwL'vel -
(880'924) (880'924) - - - - - - -
(lpe'zgz'ol) (056'9L9'GL) 251'620'9 - - - (evs'vil'e) - -
860'0.2'G (0/6'029'9) 820'c06'LL - - - - - -
o89'leg'eyl 289'08¥'vE  €69'GOL'YL  G¥B'L6 (961'601)  (£ZL'vPE'L) €10°120'22 6.8'€8L'0F €£8'G8L'SE
|ejof s)Sausjul (.) sbuiuiea  Aunbs anesal saieys |endea wnjwaid [endeo
Buyjouoo  panquisIpun SI8UMO seoualeyip finseal] ,SI8umo aeys aieys panss|
-UopN o} buibuojaq sbueyoxa 18430

spunj sy ubislo4
uoypu gNa Aouauns

NH/NG-604d

aouejeq Buipuzy

$18Y10 -
(1) sateys aouaiayeid UO SpUBPIAIP
pue siepjoyareys Buyjonuod
-UOU 0} palePap puaplAl] -
(1) siapjoyaleys Buijjonuos-uou
Ag uopnguuos fepdes pue jonuos
JO $S0] Jnoym salelpisgns Buysixa
ut Jsatsiu) Ajinba jo abueyn -
saleIPISqns Mau Jo uolisinboy -
(1) sauelpISgNS J0 |0JU0D
JO SSO} pue saue|pisgns jo jesodsiq -
1eak ay} 1o} (ssop)yoid JoN -
aouejeq Buiuuibag

1eaf jusiing

(penunuoos) Aynbe ,siouUMO Ul B8SEBI09P PUR BSLIDU|

(panunuoo) ALINDI .SHANMO

162

6C

papua uay) Jeak ayj 1o} pue yz0z Jequiass( Lg Je se
(panupuod) SINIAWILYLS TVIONYNI4 A3LVAMOSNOD IHL OL SILON

Auedwo) 0015 iop dnoaBuip



Vingroup Joint Stock Company B09-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

29.

29.1

OWNERS’ EQUITY (continued)

Increase and decrease in owners’ equity (continued)

(i) Disposal of subsidiaries primarily includes the disposal of SDI LLC, NVY Vietham JSC
and VYHT JSC to counterparties (Note 4.3).

(i) Transactions that resulted in change of equity interest in existing subsidiaries without loss
of control and capital contribution by non-controlling shareholders which have significant
impact on non-controlling interests and undistributed earnings include;

(iii)

B

In January 2024, the Group changed its effective interest in VinES Energy Solutions
JSC ("VinES JSC”);

In February 2024, the Group transferred 35% of contributed capital in TPX Holding
Real Estate Development LLC, a subsidiary newly established in the year, to a
counterparty;

In March 2024, the Group transferred 34% of contributed capital in TS Holding Real
Estate Development LLC, a subsidiary newly established in the year, to other
counterparties;

In April 2024, the Group received the transfer of 17.35% voting shares in Vinsmart
Research and Manufacture JSC (*Vinsmart JSC”) from counterparties;

Capital contribution from non-controlling shareholders to Vinpearl JSC (Note 4.2);

Transfer of 11% contributed capital in Vinsmart JSC between subsidiaries within the
Group;

In October and November 2024, Vinhomes JSC acquired 246.9 million of its own
shares with the total consideration of VND10,485 billion;

In November 2024, the Group received the transfer of 3.08% voting shares in VMC
Holding Business Investment JSC from a counterparty.

In accordance with the Resolution No. 01/2023/NQ-DHDCD-DTVN dated 28 April 2023,
the Shareholders General Meeting of Vietnam Investment and Consulting Investment
JSC approved the appropriation plan for 2022 undistributed earnings. Accordingly,
Vietnam Investment and Consulting Investment JSC distributed dividends in cash at the
rate of VND333,333 per 1 share.
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company

BO9-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

29, OWNERS’ EQUITY (continued)

29.2  Contributed share capital

Currency: VND million

Ending balance Beginning balance
Ordinary Preference Ordinary Preference

Total shares shares Total shares shares
Issued share
capital 38,785,833 38,236,616 549,217 38,785,833 38,236,616 549,217
Share
premium 40,308,020 32,053,865 8,254,155 40,183,879 31,929,724 8,254,155
Treasury
shares (1,344,123) (1,344,123) - (1,344,123) (1,344,123) -
TOTAL 77,749,730 68,946,358 8,803,372 77,625,589 68,822,217 8,803,372

29.3  Capital transactions with owners

Issued share capital
Beginning balance
Issuance of shares under the employee stock
option program

Ending balance

29.4  Ordinary shares and preference shares

Authorised shares

Issued shares
Ordinary shares
Preference shares

Treasury shares
Ordinary shares

Shares in circulation
Ordinary shares
Preference shares

Currency: VND million

Current year Previous year

38,785,833 38,688,573

- 97,260

38,785,833 38,785,833
Shares

Ending balance Beginning balance
3,878,583,306 3,878,583,306

3,878,583,306 3,878,583,306
3,823,661,561 3,823,661,561

54,921,745 54,921,745
103,645,482 103,645,482
103,645,482 103,645,482

3,774,937,824 3,774,937,824
3,720,016,079 3,720,016,079
54,021,745 54,921,745

29.5

The par value of outstanding share: VND10,000 per share (31 December 2023: VND10,000
per share).

According to Share Subscription Agreement dated 7 August 2018, preference shares are not
entitled to vote, being restricted for transfer within one year since 22 August 2018 and have
the right to convert into ordinary shares of the Company at the conversion price specified in
the contract at any time after the issuance date. The Company has the right to redeem a
portion or the entirety of these preference shares during a period of 5.5 years to 6.5 years
from the issuance date.

Treasury shares

As at 31 December 2024, the number of shares of the Company held by subsidiaries is
103,645,482 shares.
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company BOS-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

30. REVENUE

30.1 Revenue from sale of goods and rendering of services

80

Currency: VND million

Current year Previous year

Gross revenue 189,090,599 161,452,751
In which:

Sale of inventory properties 93,173,685 94,374,247

Manufacturing and related activities 49,703,937 28,104,299

Rendering of general contractor and related

services 14,382,074 6,253,712

Rendering of hotel services, amusement park

services and related services 8,656,940 8,691,050

Rendering of education services and related

services 5,944,423 5,127,421

Rendering of hospital services and related

services 4,487,050 4,415,015

Leasing activities and rendering of related

services 3,485,534 8,836,014

Others 9,256,956 5,650,993
Less sales deduction (22,559) (25,183)
Net revenue 189,068,040 161 ,427,568
In which:

Sale of inventory properties 93,173,685 94,374,247

Manufacturing and related activities 49,696,268 28,081,148

Rendering of general contractor and related

services 14,382,074 6,253,712

Rendering of hotel services, amusement park

services and related services 8,642,192 8,689,018

Rendering of education services and related

services 5,944,423 5,127,421

Rendering of hospital services and related

services 4,487,050 4,415,015

Leasing activities and rendering of related

services 3,485,534 8,836,014

Others 9,256,814 5,650,993
In which:

Sale fto related parties 15,368,922 22,039,152

Sale to others 173,699,118 139,388,416
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company B09-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

30.

30.1

30.2

30.3

REVENUE (continued)
Revenue from sale of goods and rendering of services (continued)

Revenue from construction contracts recognised during the year and cumulative revenue of
the on-going construction contracts are as follows:

Currency: VND million

Current year Previous year
Revenue recognised during the year of the
completed construction contracts 3,714,582 1,640,362
Revenue recognised during the year of the on-
going construction contracts 10,611,377 4,572,831
TOTAL 14,325,959 6,213,193
Cumuilative revenue recognised up to end of year of
the on-going construction contracts 12,689,074 4,769,872

Revenue and expense relating to investment properties
Currency: VND million

Current year Previous year
Rental income from leasing investment properties 2,452,239 6,183,671
Direct operating expenses of investment properties
that generated rental income during the year (1,154,466) (2,074,530)

Finance income
Currency: VND million

e,
e

AN

V4

Current year Previous year
Gains from disposal of subsidiaries and financial
investments (i) 42,321,291 15,105,009
Interest income from deposits, loans and advances 4,628,985 4,480,942
Foreign exchange gains 329,256 252,598
Others 845,960 663,936
TOTAL 47,925,492 20,502,485

(i) Gains from disposal of subsidiaries and financial investments mainly include gains from
disposal of subsidiaries (Note 4.3)
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

31. COST OF GOODS SOLD AND SERVICES RENDERED

Inventory properties sold

Manufacturing and related activities

Rendering of general contractor and related services
Rendering of hotel services, amusement park
services and related services

Rendering of education services and related services
Rendering of hospital services and related services
Leasing activities and rendering of related services

Others
TOTAL

32. FINANCE EXPENSES

interest expenses

Foreign exchange losses

Issuance costs

Provision for diminution in value of investments
Others

‘OTAL

82

BO9-DN/HN

Currency: VND million

Current year Previous year
52,511,443 58,107,948
70,830,935 46,287,478
12,924,795 5,623,622

7,740,426 11,763,549
4,576,465 3,907,272
3,769,984 3,667,015
1,647,970 3,565,579
7,765,204 5,096,629
161,767,222 137,919,092

Currency: VND million

Current year Previous year
20,699,912 15,672,889
3,394,366 3,007,854
2,280,132 1,572,982
862,270 19,316
3,971,415 2,568,316
31,208,095 22,841,357




Vingroup Joint Stock Company B0O9-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

33. SELLING EXPENSES AND GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
Currency: VND million
Current year Previous year

Selling expenses

External service expenses 7,934,240 6,449,021
Provision for warranty 4,336,721 2,042,803
Labour costs 2,799,845 2,471,275
Depreciation and amortisation of fixed assets 430,545 473,908
Others 2,552,568 1,076,900
TOTAL 18,053,919 12,513,907
General and administration expenses
Labour costs 4,888,000 4,551,321
External service expenses 3,692,567 3,473,554
Research and development expenses 2,590,874 2,584,055
Depreciation and amortisation of fixed assets
and goodwill 1,674,555 1,131,959
Other taxes, fees and charges 663,039 401,762
Provision expenses (i) 541,699 177,154
Subsidy and charity expenses 409,716 553,753
Others 787,857 589,697
TOTAL 15,148,307 13,463,255

(i) Provisions expenses include provision for onerous contracts as disclosed in Note 28 and
other provision expenses.

34, OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES
Currency: VND milfion

Current year Previous year

Other income 10,068,646 22,132,506
Sponsorship income (i) 8,366,217 20,679,366
Penalty received 963,552 319,670
Others 738,877 1,133,470
Other expenses 4,994,702 3,457,771
Penalty expenses 2,739,463 2,627,269
Loss from disposal and write-off of fixed assets 1,372,415 204,274
Others 882,824 626,228
NET OTHER PROFIT 5,073,944 18,674,735

() Sponsorship income in 2024 mainly includes non-refundable grants from related parties
to VinFast Trading and Production JSC (“VinFast JSC") under the capital funding
agreement.
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

35.

36.

36.1

PRODUCTION AND OPERATING COSTS

BO9-DN/HN

Currency: VND million

Current year Previous year
Deveiopment costs of inventory properties 65,061,922 53,843,383
Raw materials 44,124,206 38,818,959
External service expenses 36,647,569 25,173,199
Labor costs 22,674,003 18,442,020
Depreciation, amortization and allocation of goodwill 22,627,124 17,605,842
Others (excluding finance expenses) 20,067,781 10,711,365

211,202,605 164,594,768

TOTAL

CORPORATE INCOME TAX

The current statutory corporate income tax (“CIT”) rate applicable to the Group and its

subsidiaries is 20%, except for the following entities:

» Vinmec International General Hospital JSC (“Vinmec JSC"), Vinschool JSC and

VinAcademy Education and Training LLC ("VinAcademy LLC") apply the incentive tax
rate of 10% for income from social service activities in the fields of education - training
and healthcare. Additionally, the undistributed earnings reinvested to upgrade and
develop the education system from Vinschool's socialized establishments are tax-
exempt;

VinFast JSC and certain subsidiaries operating in industrial and technology business
apply the incentive tax rate of 10% in the first 15 years commencing from the first year in
which revenue is generated, CIT exemption for 4 years commencing from the first year
in which taxable profit is earned (or commencing from the fourth year from the first year
in which revenue is generated if no taxable profit is earned for the first 3 years), and a
50% reduction of CIT for the subsequent 9 years for manufacturing activities; and

» Foreign subsidiaries’ CiT rate depends on the regulations of the local tax authorities.

The tax returns filed by the Company and its subsidiaries are subject to examination by the
tax authorities. As the application of tax laws and regulations is susceptible to varying
interpretations, the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements could be
changed at a later date upon final determination by the tax authorities.

CIT expenses

Currency: VND million

Current year Previous year

Current tax expenses 12,913,575 11,287,235
Deferred tax (income)/expense (1,450,927) 426,056
11,462,648 11,713,291

TOTAL
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

36. CORPORATE INCOME TAX (continued)

36.1 CIT expenses (continued)

BO9-DN/HN

The reconciliation between CIT expenses and the accounting profit before tax multiplied by

applicable CIT rate is presented below:

Accounting profit before tax
At CIT rate 20%:
Adjustments:

Unrecognised deferred tax assets related to tax losses

of subsidiaries

Non-deductible interest expenses
Non-deductible charity expenses
Gains/losses from equity transactions in the
consolidated financial statements

Deferred revenue from service type warranty and non-

deductible provisions for warranty

Adjustments for income/expenses in the consolidated
financial statements resulting from acquisitions of

group of assets and business combination
Non-deductible penalty expenses

Goodwill allocation in the consolidated financial

statements
Others
Tax losses carried forward

Reversal of provisions for investments in subsidiaries
Non-deductible interest expenses carried from

previous years realised in the year

CIT expenses

36.2 Current tax

Currency: VND million

Current year  Previous year
16,738,706 13,769,352
3,347,741 2,753,870
4,494,350 3,415,231
3,858,620 3,580,007
2,415,437 80,458
2,137,912 1,488,433
746,578 432,558
347,695 90,909
208,196 286,448
104,760 51,693
1,510,992 (39,885)
(4,359,850) (783,119)
(1,659,823) 548,735
(1,789,960) (192,047)
11,462,648 11,713,291

The current CIT payable is based on taxable income for the current year. The taxable income
of the Group for the year differs from the profit as reported in the consolidated income
statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and it further excludes items that are not taxable or deductible. The Group's
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted by the consolidated

balance sheet date.
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company B09-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

36.

36.4

36.5

36.6

CORPORATE INCOME TAX (continued)
Tax loss carried forward from previous year

The Group is entitied to carry each individual tax loss forward to offset against future taxable
income. Details are as follows:

» For legal entities doing business in Vietnam: as at 31 December 2024, total accumulated
tax losses amounting to VND113,870 billion (31 December 2023: VND103,926 billion)
which can be used to offset against future taxable income within 5 years subsequent to
the year in which the loss was incurred in accordance with the laws of Vietnam; and

» For legal entities doing business abroad: as at 31 December 2024, total accumulated tax
losses amounting to VND21,663 billion (31 December 2023: VND8,705 billion) which can
be used to offset against future taxable income within a certain period of time in
accordance with the laws of the host country.

These are estimated accumulated tax losses as per the CIT declarations of the Company and
its subsidiaries, which have not been finalised by the local tax authorities as of the date of
these consolidated financial statements.

No deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of these accumulated tax losses
because future taxable profit cannot be ascertained at this stage.

Interest expenses exceeding the prescribed threshold

The Group is entitled to carry forward interest expenses exceeding the prescribed threshold
that have not been deducted when calculating CIT for the current year (“non-deductible
interest expenses”) to the following years when determining the total deductible interest
expenses of the following years. The subsequent period that the interest expenses can be
carried forward to will not exceed consecutive period of 05 years subsequent to the year in
which the non-deductible interest expenses incurred.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these non-deductible interest
expenses because future taxable profits and the conditions for deduction in subsequent tax
periods cannot be ascertained at this stage.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets due to application of top-up tax under the global
anti-base erosion rules

On 29 November 2023, the National Assembly of the Socialist Republic of Vietnam approved
Resolution No.107/2023/QH15 (“Resolution 107") about application of top-up tax under the
global anti-base erosion rules. Resolution 107 is effective from 1 January 2024, applies from
the fiscal year 2024. The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities related to the additional corporate income tax under Resolution 107 due to the
detailed guidance on the calculation and recognition of this tax liability has not yet been made
available.
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

37.

371

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

BO9-DN/HN

List of related parties that have a controlling relationship with the Group during the year and
as at 31 December 2024 is as follows:

Related parties
Mr. Pham Nhat Vuong

Relationship

Chairman of the Group, Control of the Group

Significant transactions of the Group with related parties

Significant transactions with related parties in current year and prior year were as follows:

Related parties Relationships

Kind Heart Under common

Foundation control

Vietnam Under common

Investment Group control

JSC

GSM JSC Under common
control

PT XanhSM Green Under common
and Smart Mobility control
Indonesia (“GSM

Indonesia JSC”)

V-Green Global Under common
Charging Station  control
Development JSC

(*V-Green JSC")

V-G High-Tech Ltd Joint venture

Vincom Retail JSC Associate

Transactions

Revenue from rendering
services

Deposit received for transfer of
real estate

Sponsorship to subsidiary
Purchase office rental, hotel
and advisory services
Revenue from selling goods
and rendering services
Receivables from shares
transfer

Revenue from selling goods
Capital contribution
Interest from late payment

Revenue from selling goods

Receivables from payment on
behalf

Charging station expenses of
free charging station program
for customers who purchased
electric vehicles

Revenue from business
cooperation contract

Revenue from construction
activities
Capital contribution

Deposit received for transfer of
real estate

Deposit received from
Investment Cooperation
contracts

Deposit interest from
Investment Cooperation
contracts

Profit sharing revenues from
Investment Cooperation
contracts

88

Currency: VND million

Current year Previous year

42,921

194,100

74,904
164,984

121,437

12,949,031
602,632
245,817

1,698,465

398,554

211,875

55,208

213,639

6,815,311

2,011,724

637,798

212,356

176,696

175,437
128,904
792,330
18,969,175

297,368
143,856

209,526

1,039,033
"
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company B09-DN/HN
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

37. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (continued)

37.1  Significant transactions of the Group with related parties (continued)

Currency: VND million

Related parties  Relationships Transactions Current year Previous year
Vincom Retail Associate Deposit received from 1,153,649 ™)
Operation LLC Investment Cooperation
contracts
Rental expenses of shopping 731,010 )
center
Interest from deposit of 237,042 *)
Investment Cooperation
contracts
Profit sharing revenues from 75,775 ™
Investment Cooperation
contracts
SDILLC Associate up to 4  Profit sharing payable from 247,730 ™

September 2024  investment and business
cooperation contracts

Suoi Hoa Urban  Associate Capital contribution for 201,342 *
Development and Investment Cooperation
Investment LLC contracts

(“Suoi Hoa LLC")

Mr. Pham Nhat Chairman of the  Sponsorship to subsidiary 8,277,310 18,980,000
Vuong Group Transfer of shares in subsidiary 1,820,006 -
0]
Capital contribution to - 1,858,200
subsidiary
Advance from customer related - 1,729,000
to shares transfer
Acquisition of VinES Ha Tinh - 864,328
JSC
Receivables from shares - 420,420
transfer

Individual 1 Close family Acquired additional shares in 475,430 -
member of subsidiary
management
personnel of Group

Individual 2 Close family Acquired additional shares in 85,458 -
member of subsidiary
management Revenue from transfer of real - 610,750
personnel of estate
Group
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37.

371

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (continued)

Significant transactions of the Group with related parties (continued)

B09-DN/HN

Currency: VND million

Related parties Relationships Transactions Current year Previous year
Green Real Estate Major shareholder ofa  Interest expenses 111,369 -
Trading subsidiary

Development and

Commercial

Investment LL.C
(“Green Real
Estate LLC")

Asian Star Trading Under common control ~ Sponsorship to - 1,668,005

& Investment subsidiary

VMI JSC Under common control  Revenue from transfer - 1,622,030

of real estate

Individual 4 Close family member of Receivables from - 1,782,000
management personnel shares transfer
of Group

Individual 5 Member of Board of Revenue from transfer - 226,205
Directors of a subsidiary of real estate

Individual 6 Member of Board of Revenue from transfer - 195,866
Directors of a subsidiary of real estate

Individual 7 Vice Chairwoman of the Receivables from - 404,250
Group shares transfer

Individual 3 Close family member of Payable related to - 483,000

management personnel

shares transfer

of a subsidiary

(*) Became the associates of the Group from Match 2024 (Note 4.3).

(i) During the year, the Chairman of the Group received the transfer of VinES JSC from the Group then
transferred it to VinFast JSC with the consideration of VNDO. In May 2024, VIinES JSC was demerged
into two companies: VinEG Green Energy Solutions Joint Stock Company (“VinEG JSC”) and VIinES
JSC. Atter this transaction, the Chairman of the Group owns VIinES JSC, and VinFast JSC owns VIinEG
JSC.

As at 31 December 2024, certain balances of receivables, advances and deposits of Group are secured
by 1,045 million shares of VinFast Auto Ltd. which are held by certain related parties that are under
common control of the Group (Note 9, Note 13).

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties

The Group sold/purchased goods and services to/from related parties based on the terms and prices
stated in contracts.

As at 31 December 2024, except for the borrowings and loan receivables which are interest-bearing as
presented in Note 37.3 and Note 37.4, other outstanding balances are interest-free, and will be settled
in cash. During the year, the Group has not made provision for doubtful debts relating to amounts owned
by related parties (31 December 2023: nil). This assessment s undertaken in each financial year through
the examination of the financial position of related parties and the market in which the related parties
operate.
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37.

37.2

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (continued)
Amounts due to and due from related parties

Amounts due to and due from related parties at the balance sheet dates were as follows:
Currency: VND million

Related parties Relationships Transactions Ending balance Beginning
balance

Short-term trade receivables (Notes 7.1)

GSM JSC Under common Receivables from sale 2,188,494 2,295,142
control of goods

GSM Indonesia Under common Receivables from sale 1,325,057 -

Jsc control of goods

Vincom Retail JSC Associate Profit sharing 286,488 -

receivables from
Investment Cooperation

contracts
Receivables from 40,332 -
rendering services
V-G High-Tech Ltd Joint venture Receivables from 140,534 212,044
construction activities
Vincom Retail Associate Profit sharing 88,526 -
Operation LLC receivables from
Investment Cooperation
contracts
Vietnam Under common Receivables from - 1,642,446
Investment Group  control disposal of assets
JSC Receivables from - 396,165
shares transfer
Mr. Pham Nhat Chairman of the Receivables from - 210,210
Vuong Group shares transfer
Individual 7 Vice Chairwoman Receivables from - 202,125
of the Group shares transfer
Other related Other related Other receivables 159,652 130,276
parties parties
4,229,083 5,088,408
Other short-term receivables (Notes 9)
V-Green JSC Under common Receivables of payment 367,122 -
control on behalf
GSM JsC Under common interest receivables 154,794 -
control from late payment
Vincom Retail JSC Associate Receivables from 74,078 ™)
finance lease contract
and payment on behalf
Central Park Under common Profit sharing 51,326 51,326
Development LL.C  control receivables from
business cooperation
contracts
Vincom Retail Associate Receivables of payment 25,297 *
Operation LLC on behalf
Sai Dong Urban Under common Interest receivables - 44,233
Development and  control
Investment Joint
Stock Company
(“Sai Dong JSC")
672,617 95,559
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as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

37. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (continued)

37.2  Amounts due to and due from related parties (continued)

Currency: VND million

Related parties Relationships Transactions Ending balance Beginning balance
Other long-term receivables (Notes 9)
Vincom Retail JSC Associate Capital contribution 4,503,823 *
for Investment
Cooperation
contracts
Receivables from 92,706 ™
finance lease
contract
Vincom Retail Associate Capital contribution 1,801,040 )
Operation LLC for Investment
Cooperation
contracts
Other receivables 12,761 ™
Suoi Hoa LLC Associate Capital contribution 381,342 ™
for investment
Cooperation
contracts
6,791,672 -
Other long-term assets (Notes 13)
Sai Dong JSC Under common Deposit for assets 61,666 128,325
control acquisition
61,666 128,325
Short-term trade payables (Notes 21.1)
Vincom Retail Associate Payable related to 310,688 *)
Operation LLC rendering services
V-Green JSC Under common Payabile related to 144,822 -
control rendering services
GSM JsSC Under common Payable related to 56,285 -
control rendering services
Vincom Retail JSC Associate Payable related to 49,571 ™
rendering services
561,366 -
Short-term advance from customers (Notes 21.2)
V-G High-Tech Ltd Joint venture Advance from 9,596 72,431
customer related to
construction
contract
Mr. Pham Nhat Chairman of the Advance from - 1,729,000
Vuong Group customer related to
shares transfer
GSM JSC Under common Advance from - 12,288
control customer related to
purchase of goods
9,596 1,813,719
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37. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (continued)

37.2 Amounts due to and due from related parties (continued)

Currency: VND million

Related parties Relationships Transactions Ending balance Beginning balance

Short-term accrued expenses (Note 23)

Vincom Retail JSC Associate Interest payables 163,262 )
Vincom Retail Associate Interest payables 117,405 ™)
Operation LL.C
280,667 -
Long-term accrued expenses (Note 23)
Green Real Estate  Major shareholder Interest payables 55,318 -
LLC of a subsidiary
55,318 -
Other short-term payables (Note 25)
Vincom Retail JSC Associate Deposit receipt for 5,479,698 ™)
real estate transfer
Vincom Retail Associate Payables of payment 78,822 ™
Operation LLC on behalf
GSM JSC Under common Payables of payment 75,361 -
control on behalf
VMi JSC Under common  Deposit receipt for 67,999 72,654
control real estate transfer
5,701,880 72,654
Other long-term payables (Note 25)
Vincom Retail Associate Deposit receipt from 12,935,824 *
Operation LLC Investment
Cooperation contracts
Vincom Retail JSC Associate Deposit receipt from 7,985,875 ™)
Investment
Cooperation contracts
Vietnam Investment Under common Deposit receipt for 194,100 -
Group JSC control real estate transfer
21,115,799 -

(*) Became the associates of the Group from March 2024 (Note 4.3).
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37. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (continued)

37.3  Details of loan receivables from related parties (Note 8)
The Group has no loan receivables from related parties as at 31 December 2024.
Details of loan receivables as at 31 December 2023:

Related parties Relationship Amount Interestrate  Maturity date Collateral
VND million % per annum

Short-term loan receivables

Sai Dong JSC Under common 13,444 11% - September 2024 None
control
13,444
Related parties Relationship Amount Interestrate  Maturity date Collateral

VIND million % per annum
Long-term loan receivables

Sai Dong JSC Under common 9,100 12% February 2025 None
control

9,100
37.4  Details of borrowings from related parties (Note 26.2)

Details of borrowings as at 31 December 2024:

Related parties Relationship Amount Interest rate  Maturity date Collateral
VND million % per annum

Long-term borrowings

Green Real Estate Major shareholder 776,000 11% July 2028 None
LLC of a subsidiary
Genestory JSC Associate 20,153 12% From May to None
June 2026
796,153

Details of borrowings as at 31 December 2023:

Related parties Relationship Amount Interest rate  Maturity date Collateral
VND million % per annum

Long-term borrowings
Genestory JSC Associate 14,000 11% June 2025 None

14,000
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37.

37.5

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (continued)

Transactions with other related parties

Remuneration of members of the Board of Directors of the Company (*):

Currency: VND million

Position Currentyear  Previous year
Mr. Pham Nhat Vuong Chairman - -
Ms. Pham Thuy Hang Vice Chairwoman 2,763 2,752
Ms. Pham Thu Huong Vice Chairwoman 2,763 2,752
Ms. Nguyen Dieu Linh Vice Chairwoman - -
Mr. Nguyen Viet Quang Vice Chairman 2,782 2,781

Independent Board
Mr. Adil Ahmad member 1,239 1,076

Independent Board
Mr. Chin Michael Jaewuk member 1,239 1,076
Mr. Ronaldo Dy-Liacco Independent Board
lbasco member 1,239 1,076
Ms. Chun Chae Rhan Independent Board

member up to 25 Febuary

2025 - -
TOTAL 12,025 11,513

(*) This only includes the remuneration paid for positions at the Board of Directors.

Salaries, bonuses for the Chief Executive Officer and other management members of the

Company:
Currency: VND million
Position Current year  Previous year
Mr. Nguyen Viet Quang Chief Executive Officer 11,128 11,125
Other management members 41,873 42,286
TOTAL 53,001 53,411

Salary and operating expenses of the Board of Supervision:

Currency: VND million

Position Current year  Previous year
Head of Board of
Mr. Nguyen The Anh Supervision 2,201 2,014
Other supervision members 662 570
TOTAL 2,863 2,584
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38. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit after tax for the year
attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Group by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit after tax
attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Group (after adjusting for impact of exchangeable
bonds and convertible preference shares) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would
be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per

share computations:

Currency: VND million

Current year Previous year
Net profit after tax attributable to shareholders of the
parent 11,903,028 2,156,925
Dividend paid for preference shares (60,950) (60,950)
Undistributed profit of subsidiaries per reinvestment
commitment (Note 29.1) (513,081) -
Net profit after tax attributable to ordinary shareholders
for basic earnings 11,328,997 2,095,975
Dilution resulting from exchangeable bond (Note
26.3) (136,015) (147,005)
Dilution resulting from convertible preference shares
(Note 29.4) 60,950 -
Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders
adjusted for the effect of dilution 11,253,932 1,948,970
Unit: shares
Current year Previous year
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
(excluding treasury shares) for basic earnings
per share 3,720,016,079 3,710,396,374
Effect of dilution due to:
Convertible preference shares 61,503,235 -
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
(excluding treasury shares) adjusted for the
3,781,519,314 3,710,396,374

effect of dilution

Currency: VND

Current year Previous year
Basic earnings per share 3,045 565
Diluted earnings per share 2,976 525

The exchangeable bond No.3 (Note 26.4) was repurchased by the Group in September 2024,
therefore, there is no impact of dilution resulting from this bond for the current year.

The exchangeable bond No.1 (Note 26.3) and exchangeable bond No.4 (Note 27) issued by
the Company and its subsidiaries, which could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in
the future but were not included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share because they
are anti-dilutive for the current year.
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38.

39.

EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

The preference shares are not entitled to vote, being restricted for transfer within one year
and have the right to convert into ordinary shares of the Company at the conversion price
specified in the contract at any time after the issuance date.

The preference share has dilutive effect on earnings per share that was included in the
calculation of diluted earnings per share for the current year.

There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares
between the reporting date and the date of completion of these consolidated financial
statements.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Commitment related to joint-name contracts for real estate project development

The Group has received approval for joint-name contracts with other counterparties to
become the investor in certain real estate projects. Accordingly, the Group and the
counterparties commit to contributing capital equivalent to the amount specified in relevant
documents issued by the competence authorities.

Capital expenditure commitments relating to on-going real estate projects

The Group has entered into a number of contracts relating to the development of real estate
projects and other business activities of the Group. The remaining commitment on these
contracts as at 31 December 2024 is approximately VND58,861 billion (as at 31 December
2023: VND83,876 billion).

Commitments under operating leases where the Group is a lessor
The Group, as lessor, leases out batteries, office, factory, and mixed-use spaces under
operating lease agreements. The future minimum rental receivables under these agreements

are as follows:

Currency: VND million

Ending balance Beginning balance

Less than 1 year 1,239,922 3,989,487
From 1 to 5 years 3,623,817 7,637,185
More than 5 years 2,528,223 7,240,901
TOTAL 7,291,962 18,867,573

Under the business co-operation contract signed between certain subsidiaries of the Group
and Thien Huong Investment JSC (“Thien Huong JSC”) regarding the school operations in
Vinhomes Royal City projects, the Group is entitled to a share of Thien Huong JSC's revenue,
which is equal to 15% of revenue and can be adjusted according to agreements between both
parties. The duration of the business co-operation contract is from February 2012 to the end
of August 2043,

According to the business cooperation contract signed between a subsidiary and V-Green
JSC regarding the collaboration on EV charging station systems, the Group will receive a
revenue share from V-Green JSC calculated at 13.5% of the revenue generated from the EV
charging station systems, which may be adjusted according to annual agreements. The
duration of the business cooperation contract extends until the end of December 2032.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

39.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued)

Commitments under operating leases where the Group is a lessee

The Group, as lessee, entered into certain operating lease agreements with the minimum
lease commitments under these agreements are as follows:

Currency: VND million

Ending balance Beginning balance

Less than 1 year 1,902,262 1,744,953
From 1 to 5 years 5,182,669 6,684,237
More than 5 years 14,528,403 15,894,082
TOTAL 21,613,334 24,323,272

Commitments under finance leases where the Group is lessor

As at 31 December 2024, the Group entered into finance lease contracts for the lease of
batteries. At the end of the reporting date, the present value of the minimum lease payment
receivables under these finance lease agreements are as follows:

Currency: VND million

Ending balance Beginning balance
Total Total
minimum Present minimum Present
lease Finance value of lease Finance value of
payments income payment payments income payment
Current receivables
Less than 1 year 199,350 64,637 134,713 107,553 20,001 87,552
Non-current receivables
From 1 to 5 years 797,400 198,532 598,868 430,213 113,845 316,368
More than 5 years 442,176 16,303 425,873 322,353 18,057 304,296
TOTAL 1,438,926 279,472 1,159,454 860,119 151,903 708,216

Other commitments and contingent liabilities

Commitment to guarantee payment obligations for certain related parties and other
counterparties

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has committed to using a number of tangible fixed assets,
inventories, construction in progress, shares of subsidiaries held by other subsidiaries of the
Group to guarantee the obligations for certain related parties and other counterparties of the
Group.

Commitments relating to credit limit contracts
In accordance with credit limit contracts signed between the Group and commercial banks,

the Group commits to use a number of shares of a subsidiary held by the Company, fixed
assets, inventories, construction in progress held by the Group to secure for these contracts.
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39.-

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued)
Other commitments and contingent liabilities (continued)

Commitments under interest support agreements to buyers of apartments, villas at the
Group’s projects

According to three-party interest support agreements among the investors, buyers of the
inventory properties of the Group’s projects and certain banks, the Group commit to
supporting the buyers in settling the interest in committed period in accordance with loan
contracts signed between buyers and these banks.

Commitment under the contract to purchase shares of Berjaya Vietnam Financial Center Co.,
Ltd ("Berjaya VFC Co., Ltd")

In May 2018, Vinhomes JSC and Can Gio Tourist City Corporation (“Can Gio JSC") signed a
share transfer contract with a corporate counterparty to acquire 32.5% equity interest in
Berjaya VFC Co., Ltd. The remaining commitment of these subsidiaries under this contract
as at 31 December 2024 is VND503.7 billion.

Commitment related to the acquisition of shares in a subsidiary

In December 2023, the Group has entered into a Capital Transfer Agreement with
counterparties for the purpose of acquiring shares in a subsidiary. As at 31 December 2024,
the remaining commitment under this agreement amounts to VND472.7 billion.

Commitment related to profit sharing

The Group signed Business Cooperation Contracts with counterparties related to real estate
projects. According to these agreements, the Group would have to share a portion of profits
as stipulated in the contracts signed with the counterparties.

The Group signed Master Investment Agreement with a counterparty for a part of a real estate
project where a subsidiary is the project investor. According to this agreement, the
counterparty is entitled to fixed dividends and bonus dividends with a total value of upto 41%
of the agreed profit in this part of the project.
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39.

CONMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued)
Other commitments and contingent liabilities (continued)
Commitment related to acquisition of shares in a real estate project

On 25 June 2019, Metropolis Hanoi LLC (*“Metropolis LLC"), a subsidiary, entered into a co-
operation contract with corporate counterparties for developing a real estate project.
Accordingly, Metropolis LLC deposited to a counterparty for acquiring shares of this
counterparty in the project. The remaining commitment under this contract as at 31 December
2024 is VND172.5 billion.

Commitment related to the business co-operation for a potential real estate project in Hanoi

Under the business co-operation contract dated 23 November 2017 between Royal City Real
Estate Development & Investment JSC (“Royal City JSC”) and a corporate counterparty,
Royal City JSC committed to contributing 100% investment capital in a potential real estate
project in Hanoi. The total estimated investment capital is VND790 billion. The remaining
commitment under this agreement as at 31 December 2024 is VND782 billion

Commitment with a non-controlling owner of a subsidiary

In accordance with the agreement between the two owners of a subsidiary of the Group, the
non-controlling owner has the right to contribute capital equivalent to 15% equity ownership,
together with rights, obligations in this subsidiary. The Group has previously completed its
capital contribution to this subsidiary in accordance with the Board resolutions approving its
capital increase.

Event of Gia Lam Urban Investment and Development Co., Ltd. (“Gia Lam LLC”)

Gia Lam LLC is the defendant in a lawsuit filed by the plaintiff, Ecological Investment and
Development Joint Stock Company (“Ecology JSC”), and an independent claimant who is the
remaining capital contributor in Gia Lam LLC. The lawsuit concerns the validity of a Resolution
of the Members' Council of Gia Lam LLC regarding the amendment of the company's charter
and the determination and payment of accumulated profits up to December 31, 2023, for the
capital contributors. Accordingly, Ecology JSC requests Gia Lam LLC to implement the
resolution, while the remaining capital contributor requests the cancellation of the
aforementioned resolution. The lawsuit is currently being handied by the People's Court of
Hanoi City. As of the date of this consolidated financial report, the outcome of the lawsuit has
not been determined.
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39.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued)
Other commitments and contingent liabilities (continued)
Commitments related to properties management and leasing services

The Group provided management and leasing services to customers who bought villas and
condotels at real estate projects of Vinpearl JSC. Accordingly, for the first 10 years from the
date of villas being handed over and for the first 3-5 years from the date of the condotels being
handed over, customers are guaranteed by these entities to receive the committed profit
under the signed agreements with customers. On 1 January 2024, the Group transferred
control of the business operations for the Beach Villa Components, including obligations
related to the committed profit to Nam An JSC under the business cooperation contracts (Note
4.3).

Commitments related to purchase volume

VinFast JSC and VIinEG JSC have signed contracts for the purchase of materials with a
number of suppliers, which include the commitment on minimum purchase volume to be
achieved by these two subsidiaries over a certain period and the level of compensation if the
committed purchase volume is not met.

In case of purchase shortfall, the suppliers reserve the right to revise the quotation and
component of pricing or are entitled to compensation from the subsidiaries. If the specified
minimum quantities are not reached, the Group are relieved from the obligation when the
necessary waivers are obtained.
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40.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the management purpose, the operating businesses are organised and managed
separately according to the nature of the products and services provided, and consist of
business segments as follows:

» Sale of inventory properties: including developing and trading properties at real estate
projects of the Group and other investment activities in real estate sector;

» Leasing investment properties and related services: including leasing of office and retail
areas and rendering related services at investment properties owned by the Group;

» Hospitality, entertainment and related services: including rendering hotel and related
services at the hotels and resorts owned by the Group;

» Health care and related services: including provision of health care and related services
at Vinmec International General Hospitals and Vinmec International clinic;

» Education and related services: including provision of education and related services at
Vinschool, Brighton and VinUni education system of the Group;

» Manufacturing and related activities: including manufacturing and trading automotive
vehicles and other related products and services;

» General contractor and related services: including provision of general contractor and
related services; and

» Others: including rendering real estate management services; information technology
services; real estate broker and other services.

The Group monitors each segment’s performance for the purpose of making decisions on
resource allocation and performance assessment. The performance of each segment is
assessed based on profit and loss and is determined in a consistent manner with the Group's
profit and loss on the consolidated financial statements. However, the Group's financing
activities including finance expenses and finance income are monitored on a centralised basis
and not allocated to segment. Other incomes and other expenses are not included in segment
profit.

Unallocated assets monitored on a centralised basis are mainly deferred tax assets, short-
term investments, other long-term investments, loan receivables, interest receivables, value-
added tax deductible and tax and other receivables from the State.

Unallocated liabilities monitored on a centralised basis are mainly loans and debts,
exchangeable bonds, statutory obligations, interest payables and deferred tax liabilities.

Transaction price between segments is determined on the basis of the same confractual
agreement as transactions with third parties. Revenue, costs and profit/loss of the segment
include transactions between segments. These transactions are eliminated in the
consolidated financial statements.
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company BO9-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

41. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW
STATEMENT

Currency: VND million

Current year Previous year
Actual cash received from borrowings for the year:

Cash received from normal loan agreements 112,622,431 93,363,931
Cash received from issuance of domestic bonds 41,564,854 15,206,560
Cash received from issuance of exchangeable bonds 3,518,483 5,897,106
Cash received from convertible loan - 1,190,475

Actual cash payment of borrowings for the year: (*)

Cash payment for normal loan agreements (97,9241,591)  (62,283,551)
Cash payment for principal of domestic bonds (24,915,000) (9,226,545)
Cash payment for redemption of exchangeabie bonds (27,081,153) (6,110,000)
Cash payment for convertible loan (1,212,500) -

(*) Actual cash payment for the year includes:

- Prepayments of principal amounts of VND17,180 billion for loans and bonds maturing
after the date of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 (for the year ended 31 December 2023: VND20,681 billion); and

- Payment of principal amounts of VND22,835 for loans, which were received and paid
for during the year ended 31 December 2024, and maturing before the date of the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 (for the year
ended 31 December 2023: VND15,969 billion).

105




Vingroup Joint Stock Company B09-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

42, OFF CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET ITEMS
42.1  Foreign currencies
Details of foreign currencies:

Ending balance Beginning balance

Foreign currencies:

- Indonesian Rupiah 49,004,554,794 544,579,760
- Indian Rupee 457,313,029 -
- Phillippine Peso 25,435,802 -
- United States Dollar 23,397,415 197,484,252
- Thai Baht 5,845,794 4,100
- Canadian Dollar 3,122,940 14,151,125
- Euro 1,808,512 3,500,350
- Korean Won 1,530,000 211,266
- Emirati Dirham 495,940 -
- Australian Dollar 324,202 240,479
- Singaporean Dollar 189,132 121,931
- Japanese Yen 83,000 60,000
- Ukrainian Hryvnia 15,048 15,048
- Kazakhstani Tenge 12,220 -
- Russian Ruble 8,292 8,787
- Hong Kong Dollar - 800

42.2 Bad debts written off

As at 31 December 2024, overdue receivables of VND289 billion have been written off as
management assessed that these receivables are irrecoverable (as at 31 December 2023:
VND108 billion).
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company B09-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

43.

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

In January 2025, the Group established VinMotion General Purpose Humanoid Robots
Application Development and Research Joint Stock Company with the charter capital of
VND1,000 billion. The ownership of the Group in this subsidiary was 51%.

In February 2025, Vinpearl JSC completed shares offering for its existing shareholders.
According to its public announcement, the total number of shares distributed was 70,088,173
shares.

In March 2025, the Group established VinSC Smart City Application Research, Development
and Deployment Joint Stock Company with the charter capital of VND300 billion. The
ownership of the Group in this subsidiary was 99%.

In March 2025, the People’s Committee of Hanoi issued Decision No. 1408/QB-UBND,
authorising the Group to transfer a segment of the Vinhomes Global Gate project to a
counterparty. As at the date of this consolidated financial statements, this subsidiary is in the
process of implementing this decision.
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Vingroup Joint Stock Company B09-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

43.

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE (continued)

Except for above events, there is no other matter or circumstance that has arisen since the
consolidated balance sheet date that requires adjustment or disclosure in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

Hanoi, Vietnam

........
........

s 29 March 2025

Preparer Chief Accountant “eGhisfExecutive Officer
Van Thi Hai Ha Nguyen Thi Thu Hien Nguyen Viet Quang
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EY | Building a better working world

EY exists to build a better working world, helping to
create long-term value for clients, people and society
and build trust in the capital markets.

Enabled by data and technology, diverse EY teams in
over 150 countries provide trust through assurance
and help clients grow, transform and operate.

Working across assurance, consulting, law, strategy,
fax and transactions, EY teams ask better guestions
to find new answers for the complex issues facing our
world today.

EY refers to the global organization, and may refer to one or more, of
the member firms of Ernst & Young Global Limited, each of whichis a
separate legal entity. Ernst & Young Global Limited, a UK company
limited by guarantee, does not provide services to clients. Information
about how EY collects and uses personal data and a description of the
rights individuals have under data protection legisiation are available
via ey.com/privacy. EY member firms do not practice law where
prohibited by local laws. For more information about our organization,
please visit ey.com.
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